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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEBNWR TN

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

During the year, the Group continued to engage in property related
businesses, provision of horticultural services, money lending
business and securities trading business and established a new
business segment of manufacturing and sales of Graphene and
Graphene related products. The Group’s revenue of the year was
mainly derived from horticultural services.

The Group recorded loss for the year of approximately
HK$43,947,000. The increase in net loss was mainly due to decrease
in revenue and increase in operating and administrative expenses in
2016.

The Company operates horticultural services business under the
brand “Cheung Kee Garden”, which has over forty years' history and
sound reputation in the local market. This business segment has a
long established customer base and remained a stable income
stream to the Group during the year under review.

The Company was optimistic on the local property market and
continues to market the Group’s completed properties held for sale
over the year of 2016.

In September 2016, the Company announced that the Group would
establish a joint venture (the “Joint Venture”) with a Japan Graphene
intellectual property developer (“Japan Partner”) for commencing the
Graphene manufacturing and production and sales of Graphene
related products. The capital of the Joint Venture in the amount of
JPY700,000,000 would mainly be used for purchasing Graphene
production machinery and equipment that can produce 100 tons of
Graphene per year. The Directors believe that there is enormous
business potential in Graphene industry and expect that this new
business segment will enhance the Group'’s financial performance
and accordingly, will help to gain attractive investment return for our
Shareholders.

In November 2016, the Company changed its name from “Winfoong
International Limited” to “China Graphene Group Limited” so as to
better reflect its corporate image and identity with its new Graphene
business as it direction of future business development.

In January 2017, the Joint Venture entered into two agreements with
the Japan Partner. The first one is the Plant Sale and Purchase
Agreement, whereby the Joint Venture as purchaser agreed to
acquire from the Japan Partner the tailor made machinery and
equipment for Graphene production with capacity of up to 100 tons
Graphene powder per year. The another one is the License
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEBNWR DN

Agreement, whereby the Japan Partner agreed to grant to the Joint
Venture the license to use the two patents where were registered in
Japan and cover the technology with respect to Graphene
production. It is expected that the manufacturing of Graphene and
Graphene related products could be commenced within the year of
2017.

The net asset value of the Company per share as at 31 December
2016 was approximately HK$0.08 (2015: HK$0.10) based on the
2,819,102,084 (2015: 2,819,102,084) shares issued.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

All the Group's funding and treasury activities are centrally managed
and controlled at the corporate level. There is no significant change
in respect of treasury and financing policies from the information
disclosed in the Company’s latest annual report. The Group’s
monetary assets and liabilities are denominated and the Group
conducts its business transactions principally in Hong Kong dollars.
In view of the new business segment in Japan, the Group manages
its foreign currency risk by closely reviewing the movement of the
foreign currency rate and considers hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2016, there was HK$120,000,000 bank loan
outstanding. The Group's working capital requirements are mainly
funded by bank loan and bank deposits.

As at 31 December 2015, there was no outstanding bank loan. The
Group's working capital requirements are funded by bank deposits.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had a total of 31 employees
(2015: 28).

Employees (including directors) are remunerated according to their
duties and responsibilities, market conditions and performance of
the Group. On top of basic salaries, discretionary bonus and share
options may be granted to eligible employee by reference to the
individual’s performance. In addition, the Company also provides
social security benefits to its staff such as mandatory provident fund
scheme in Hong Kong.
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Directors’ Report
EEERE

The directors herein present their annual report together with the
audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 13 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review and prospects

A business review of the Group’s and a discussion and analysis of
the Group's performance during the year ended 31 December 2016,
the financial position and an indication of likely future development
in the Company'’s business are set out in section headed “Business
Review and Prospects” on pages 4 to 5 of this Annual Report.

Principal risks and uncertainties
The major risks facing the Group are summarized below.

Impact of local and international regulations

The business operation of the Group is also subject to government
policy, relevant regulations and guidelines established by the
regulatory authorities. Failure to comply with the rules and
requirements may lead to penalties, amendments or suspension of
the business operation by the authorities. The Group closely
monitors changes in government policies, regulations and markets
as well as conducting studies to assess the impact of such changes.

Third-party risk

The Group has been relying on third-party service providers in parts
of business to improve performance and efficiency of the Group.
While gaining the benefits from external service providers, the
management realizes that such operational dependency may pose a
threat of vulnerability to unexpected poor or lapses in service
including reputation damage, business disruption and monetary
losses. To address such uncertainties, the Group engages only
reputed third-party providers and closely monitors their
performance.
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Directors’ Report
EEERE

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Environmental policies and performance

The Group paid attention to nourish and enhance employees’
awareness of cherishing resources and utilizing resources with high
efficiency, and proactively promoted environmental protection. It
urged and encouraged supervisory employees on duty to save
energy and paper at work. The ultimate goal is to save resources and
costs and protect the environment.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The incorporation places of the Company and its subsidiaries
includes Bermuda, Hong Kong, the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI")
and Japan. The Group's operations are carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Japan while the Company itself is
listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Our
establishment and operations accordingly shall comply with relevant
laws and regulations of Bermuda, Hong Kong, the BVI and Japan.
During the year ended 31 December 2016, we have complied with all
the relevant laws and regulations in the statutory and business
operation.

Key relationships with employees, customers and
suppliers

The Group promoted people-oriented management cultures and
emphasized the value of employees as it believed employees were
important resources for enhancing the Company's productivity and
core competency. To provide employees with competitive
remunerations and opportunities to receive skill trainings is closely
connected to the realization of employees’ individual values as well
as the Group's strategic goals.

The Group maintained good cooperation and communications with
suppliers and ensured both sides were mutually benefited. The
Group also paid close attention to customers’ satisfaction and
constantly enhanced service quality in order to maintain good
reputation of the Company.
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Directors’ Report
EEERE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results and cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2016 and the state of affairs of the Company and the
Group at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages
39 to 130.

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2016.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is
set out on the page 132 of this Annual Report.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in the fixed assets of the Group are set out in
note 12 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company'’s share capital during the year are set out in
note 24 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’'s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 25 to the financial statements and
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2016, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution calculated in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) became Nil (2015:
HK$73,880,000).
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Directors’ Report
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 35% (2015: 72%) of the total sales for the year and
sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to 17%
(2015: 58%).

Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for 94%
(2015: 81%) of the total purchases for the year and purchases from
the largest supplier included therein amounted to 83% (2015: 60%).

As far as the directors are aware, neither the directors, their close
associates, nor those shareholders which to the knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company's issued shares had
any interest in the five largest customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Yuan Li Min (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chen Meng

Mr. Mak Tin Sang

Non-executive director:
Mr. Li Feng Mao (Chairman)

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Leung Po Hon

Mr. Li Jing Bo

Mr. Shigeki Tanaka

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-law 87(1), Mr. Yuan Li Min,
Mr. Mak Tin Sang and Mr. Leung Po Hon will retire from office by
rotation, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Directors’ Report
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

The Company has maintained appropriated directors and officers
liability insurance and such permitted indemnity provision for the
benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2016, the interests and short positions of
directors and chief executive in shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company as required to be disclosed under and
within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFQO") were as follows:

Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the
Company:

EECRBEN
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Number and class

Name of Nature of interest of shares held Percentage
directors EENE ERME sk 08 8 RE A Bt
Li Feng Mao TERK Interest of controlled corporation 2,112,395,735 74.93%
S E R ordinary shares
=gl
Note: B3

Mr. Li Feng Mao (“Mr. Li") was deemed to have 2,112,395,735 shares held by HK Guoxin
Investment Group Limited by virtue of it being wholly-owned by Mr. Li.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, none of the
directors and the chief executive of the Company were, under
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, taken to be interested or
deemed to have any other interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company, that were required
to be entered into the register kept by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO or were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Purpose of the scheme

The existing share option scheme (the “Scheme”) of the Company
was adopted on 25 June 2013 for the purposes of enabling the Group
to provide incentives or rewards to eligible participants for their
contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests of
the Group and to enable the Group to recruit and/or to retain high-
calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable to
the Group.

Participants of the scheme

The directors of the Company are authorised, at their discretion, to
invite eligible participants, including the directors or any employee
(whether full time or part time) of the Group or an affiliate, and any
consultant, agent, or advisor of the Group or an affiliate, to take up
options (the “Option(s)”) to subscribe for shares of the Company
under the Scheme.

Total number of shares available for issue

On the adoption date of 25 June 2013, the total number of shares of
the Company (the “Shares”) available for issue under the Scheme
were 263,165,208, representing 10% of the issued Shares of the
Company as at the date of adoption of the Scheme.

On 27 May 2016, the ordinary resolution of refreshment of the
Scheme limit was approved by shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company. As at 31 December 2016, total number of
Share available for further issue under the Scheme was 281,910,208,
representing 10% of the issued shares of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, no Option had been
granted, exercised, lapsed, or was cancelled under the Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which the Options
may be granted to any one participant in any twelve-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue from time
to time.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Time of exercise of option

The Options may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme at any time during a period as determined by the directors
of the Company and not exceeding ten years from the date of the
grant. There is no minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised.

Acceptance of offer

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within twenty-
one days from the date of offer upon an initial payment of HK$1 in
total for each acceptance.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price of the Options is determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion and shall not be less than whichever is the
highest of:

(@ the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of the grant,
which must be a business day;

(b)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the grant; and

()  the nominal value of a Share.

Remaining life of the Scheme
The Scheme became effective on 25 June 2013 and will remain in
force for a period of 10 years from that date.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 28 to the financial statements, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the
company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a director of the company had
a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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Directors’ Report
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DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes of
information on Directors are as follows:

1. Mr. Leung Po Hon retired as the independent non-executive
director of Success Dragon International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1182) on 29 August 2016.

2. Mr. Mak Tin Sang was re-designated from the Chief Executive
Officer to the Chief Financial Officer of Asia Fashion Holding
Limited on 6 June 2016.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of transactions between the Group and parties regarded as
"Related Parties” under applicable accounting principles are set out
in note 28 to the financial statements. No transaction disclosed
thereto constitutes connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction of the Company subject to, among other things,
reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2016, none of the Directors or any of their
respective close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any
interest in a business that competes or may compete with the
business of the Group.
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Directors’ Report
EEERE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN

SHARES

As at 31 December 2016, the interests or short positions of the
following substantial shareholders (other than persons who were
directors and chief executive of the Company) in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register

FERRzZRMDER

RZZE—R"F+-A=1+—8" THZERR(E
RAEEREBITHABRIN RBARBREE
HFRMEGPIF3B6 IR REMFEZ M
FCSRM AN B 2 Bty R ARRBE A 00 R B 2 i 2 SR

required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the &4k :
SFO, were as follows:
Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the RADNTRORIEERGZEHE :
company:
Number and
class
Name of shareholders Nature of interest of shares held Percentage
IR A EEME iR E REH [ERa
HK Guoxin Investment Group Limited Beneficial owner 2,112,395,735 74.93%
("HK Guoxin") Motes1&3) EmEBA ordinary shares
BEBEEHERESEGRAA] =Rl
([EARE]) W12
Qilu International Funds SPC (“Qilu”) Notes2&3) Person having a security 2,112,395,735 74.93%
Qilu International Funds SPC ([ Qilu ] ) F#25%3) interest in shares ordinary shares
R EEESFEEAL =Rl
Zhongtai International Asset Management Investment manager 2,112,395,735 74.93%

Limited (“Zhongtai International”) o3
hREFREEEERRAF
(TR |) M)

REKE

Notes: 5T
Q)] The entire issued shares of HK Guoxin were owned by Mr. Li Feng Mao. Q]
2 Qilu is acting for and on behalf of Zhongtai Dingfeng Classified Fund SP. ()]

(3) The above references to the 2,112,395,735 shares (the “Shares”) relate to the (3)

same block of shares of the Company. The total of the Shares beneficially owned
by HK Guoxin were charged to Zhongtai Securities Company Limited (“Zhongtai
Securities”) during the year of 2016. On 14 December 2016, the Company
received three notices pursuant to section 324 of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance from Zhongtai Securities, Qilu and Zhongtai International.
According to these notices, Zhongtai Securities ceased to have securities interest
in the Shares, Qilu became having securities interest in the Shares and Zhongtai
International became the Investment Manager in respect of the Shares.
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Directors’ Report
EEERE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN
SHARES (CONTINUED)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, the Company had
not been notified of any other persons (other than persons who were
directors and chief executive of the Company) who had an interest
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF
THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

On 12 August 2016, the Company accepted a facility letter relating to
a two-year term loan facility in an aggregate amount of
HK$200,000,000 (the “Facility”) (the “Facility Letter”) offered by a
licensed bank in Hong Kong (the “Bank”).

As one of the undertakings requested by the Bank in the Facility
Letter, Mr. Li Feng Mao (the ultimate controlling shareholder of the
Company), shall hold, directly or indirectly, over 50% controlling
shares of the Company during the Facility period. A breach of the
aforesaid undertaking may constitute an event of default and all
amounts (including principal and interest) due or owing by the
Company to the Bank shall become immediately due and payable by
the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2016.
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Directors’ Report
EEERE

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, as at the date of the report,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2016 were audited by Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe
Horwath (HK)"). Crowe Horwath (HK) shall retire as auditor of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Crowe Horwath (HK) as auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Li Feng Mao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2017
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Corporate Governance Report

CREARE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board"”) believes that
good corporate governance is crucial to improve the efficiency and
performance of the Company and to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company had applied
the principles of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") as
set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)
and complied with all the applicable code provisions of the Code,
except the following code provision:

Under the code provision A.6.7 of the Code, independent non-
executive directors should, inter alia, attend general meetings. Due
to other important engagement at the relevant time, not all
independent non-executive directors had attended both the general
meetings of the Company held during the year under review.

The Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no
less exacting than the Code. The Company will periodically review
and improve its corporate governance practices with reference to
the latest development of corporate governance.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions as set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Following specific enquiry by the
Company, all directors confirmed that they have complied with the
required standards as set out in the Model Code throughout the
year.
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Corporate Governance Report

CREARE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the board of directors

As at 31 December 2016, the Board comprised three executive
directors, one non-executive director and three independent non-
executive directors, who all have appropriate corporate experiences.
The composition of the Board during the year ended 31 December
2016 was as follows:

Executive directors:

Mr. Yuan Li Min (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chen Meng

Mr. Mak Tin Sang

Non-executive director:
Mr. Li Feng Mao (Chairman)

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Leung Po Hon

Mr. Li Jing Bo

Mr. Shigeki Tanaka

The following table shows the attendance of each individual member
of the Board at the respective meetings of the Board and the
respective Board Committees as well as the general meeting held
during the year ended 31 December 2016:

Exg

EEGNAEAK

R-ZE—RF+-_A=+—"H EFESH=EH
TES —HIFERTEER BB IUIFRTES
R BERMHEABLELR RNEBEEZT
—NFT+_AZ+—BILFE BEEREAL:

BITESE :

R RFSE (TR ABE)
BRR A4

BREFRSE

FHTESE -
FERRE(EE)

BUFHITESE :
’ﬂfg/%%i
/'?\/&?Ei
A e A

TREBVEFSEEPKEHERBE—F—7
Ft-A=THLFERTNIREZTERE
EZEERHNMBRAGHRCHE

toF

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee  Committee = Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
B 230 RE
Name of Directors EEuR EZ2g8E ZES8E 2ZE®gE ZEg®eR BRRAE
Executive directors: HITEE:
Mr. Yuan Li Min RIRLE 10/10 N/AiEA N/ATiE A N/ATEA 12
Mr. Chen Meng BRREE 10110 N/ATGER N/AT N/ATNE 112
Mr. Mak Tin Sang BRAESE 10/10 N/AT i N/ATEF N/A i A 2/2
Non-executive director: HHITEE
Mr. Li Feng Mao FERAE 1010 NATER N/ANE R N/ANE A 112
Independent non-executive directors: BUHRTEE
Mr. Leung Po Hon REESAE 3/10 2/2 111 1/1 2/2
Mr. Li Jing Bo SREE 2/10 2/2 171 1/1 0/2
Mr. Shigeki Tanaka A% s 2/10 112 111 1/1 112
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Corporate Governance Report

CREARE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Functions of the Board

The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of
the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”). Apart from its
statutory duties, the Board reviews and approves the Group’s
strategic plans, key operational initiatives, major investments and
funding decisions, annual business plans, reviews the financial
performance of the Group and evaluates the performance and
compensation of senior management personnel.

Guidelines are established which specify certain material
transactions that require the Board'’s approval which include mergers
and acquisitions, divestments and major capital expenditure.

The Board has separate and independent access to management
and the company secretary. Management provides the Board with
reports of the Group's performance, financial position and prospects,
and these are reviewed by the Board at Board meeting. Directors
may obtain independent professional advice in furtherance of their
duties at the Group’s expense.

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance for the
Directors for indemnifying their liabilities arising out of corporate
activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

Independent non-executive directors

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules, there
are three independent non-executive directors representing at least
one-third of the Board. Among the three independent non-executive
directors, one of them has appropriate professional qualifications in
accounting or relevant financial management expertise as required
by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considered all of
them to be independent.
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CREARE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Directors’ continuous professional development
Directors are encourages to participate in continuing professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

During the year, directors received briefings and updates on the
Group's business, operations, risk management and corporate
governance matters. Materials on new or changes to rules and
regulations applicable to the Company were provided to them. The
Company has received from each of Directors the confirmation on
and training record of taking continuous professional training.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

During the year of 2016, Mr. Li Feng Mao (“Mr. Li") performed the
role of the Chairman of the Company and Mr. Yuan Li Min (“Mr.
Yuan”) performed the role of the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company separately.

The aim of the separation of the roles of Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company is to delineate their respective
areas of responsibility, power and authority. Mr. Li focuses on
formulating the corporate direction and strategies of the Company.
Mr. Yuan is responsible for the implementation of the strategic plans
and policies adopted by the Board effectively.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the non-executive and independent non-executive directors have
entered into letters of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years subject to the requirements of the Listing Rules and the
Bye-laws of the Company, including the requirement of retirement
by rotation and re-election or standing for re-election at annual
general meetings of the Company at least once every three years.
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CREARE

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit committee

The Company established an audit committee (the "Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference. The audit committee is
responsible for reviewing and monitoring the financial reporting
process and internal control system of the Company, and shall assist
the Board to fulfill its responsibility over the audit process.

During the year of 2016 and as of the date of this Report, the Audit
committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Leung Po Hon,
Mr. Li Jing Bo and Mr. Shigeki Tanaka, all of whom are independent
non-executive directors. Mr. Leung Po Hon currently serves as the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Audit Committee met
two occasions with the presence of external auditors and discharged
its responsibilities in its review of the interim and annual results. The
work performed by the Audit Committee for the year ended 31
December 2016 included reviewing and discussion of the following:

a.  the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 of the Group, with a recommendation to the
Board for approval;

b.  the consolidated financial statements for the six months ended
30 June 2016 of the Group, with a recommendation to the
Board for approval,

c.  therisk management and internal control system of the Group;

d. the audit process and its effectiveness, audit fees and
independence and objectivity of the external auditors for the
year ended 31 December 2016, with a recommendation to the
Board for approval; and

e. the compliance status of the Group with the Listing Rules and
legal requirements in relation to financial reporting.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 of the Group, with
a recommendation to the Board for approval.
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CREARE

BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Remuneration committee

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
"Remuneration Committee”) with written terms of reference. The
primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to
review and make recommendations to the Board on the overall
remuneration policy and structure relating to all directors and senior
management of the Company.

During the year of 2016 and as of the date of this Report, the
Remuneration Committee consists of three members, comprising
three independent non-executive directors, Mr. Li Jing Bo, Mr. Leung
Po Hon and Mr. Shigeki Tanaka. Mr. Li Jing Bo currently serves as the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting and preformed the work included the followings:

a. reviewing and discussing the then existing remuneration
package of the directors of the Company; and

b.  making recommendation of new remuneration packages of the
directors and communicating to the Board.

The remuneration of directors is determined with reference to their
duties and responsibilities, market conditions and performance of
the Group. Details of emoluments of directors for the year ended 31
December 2016 are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.
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CREARE

BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Nomination committee

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) with written terms of reference. The primary
responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board on a regular
basis and to make recommendations to the Board the suitable
candidates for directorship after consideration of the nominees’
independence and quality in order to ensure fairness and
transparency of all nominations.

During the year of 2016 and as of the date of this Report, the
Nomination Committee consists of three independent non-executive
directors, Mr. Shigeki Tanaka, Mr. Leung Po Hon and Mr. Li Jing Bo.
Mr. Shigeki Tanaka currently serves as the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Nomination Committee
held one meeting and preformed the work included the followings:

a. reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity
(including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service) of the Board;

b.  reviewing the re-appointment of retiring directors for re-
election; and

c.  assessing the independence of the Independent Non-Executive
Directors.
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CREARE

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. Selection of
candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Company'’s corporate governance functions are carried out by
the Board pursuant to the applicable code provisions of the CG Code
which include:

a.  todevelop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

b.  toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the directors and senior management of the
Company;

c.  toreview and monitor the Company's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

d. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the
directors of the Company; and

e. to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

For the year ended 31 December 2016 and as at the date of this
report, the Board had reviewed the corporate governance matters of
the Company. Except for the deviation disclosed previously, the
Company had complied with the principles and applicable code
provisions of the CG Code and was not aware of any non-compliance
to relevant applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2016,
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group at the date and of the Group'’s results and cash flows
for the year then ended and are properly prepared on the going
concern basis in accordance with the statutory requirements and
accounting standards. The directors are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Company is set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 32 to 38 of the Annual
Report 2016.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the auditor of the Company
and its subsidiaries would receive approximately HK$570,000 (2015:
HK$481,000) for audit and audit related services, and HK$72,000
(2015: HK$140,000) for other services.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year of 2016 until 14 June 2016, the Company engaged in
a service contract with an external service provider, Ms. Ho Wing
Yan (“Ms. Ho"), who served as the Company Secretary of the
Company. The financial controller of the Company acted as the
primary contact person of the Company with Ms. Ho. On 14 June
2016, Ms. Yuen Wing Kwan (“Ms. Yuen”) was appointed as the
Company Secretary of the Company. Ms. Yuen has complied with all
the qualifications under the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening a special general meeting

Pursuant to the Bye-law 58 of the Company, a special general
meeting may be convened by the Board upon requisition by any
shareholder holding not less than one-tenth of the issued share
capital of the Company and the securities being held carrying the
right of voting at any general meetings of the Company. The
shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary of the Company at the principal place of
business in Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of
the shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal regarding
any specified transaction/business and its supporting documents.

The Board shall arrange to hold such general meeting within two (2)
months after the receipt of such written requisition. The Company
shall serve requisite notice of the general meeting, including the
time, place of meeting and particulars of resolutions to be
considered at the meeting and the general nature of the business. If
within twenty-one (21) days of the receipt of such written requisition,
the Board fails to proceed to convene such special general meeting,
the shareholder shall do so pursuant to the provisions of Section
74(3) of the Companies Act of Bermuda.

Putting enquiries to the board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns in writing to the
Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary at the principal
place of business in Hong Kong and the Company Secretary shall
then forward the same to the appropriate executives of the Company
or members in the Board for further handling.

Putting forward proposals at shareholders’ meeting

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary of the Company at the principal place of
business in Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of
the shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/she
intends to put forward at general meeting regarding any specified
transaction/business and its supporting documents.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Directors meet and communicate with shareholders at the
annual general meeting (“AGM") of the Company. The Chairman
proposes separate resolutions for each issue to be considered and
put each proposed resolution to the vote by way of a poll. Voting
results are posted on the Company'’s website on the day of AGM.

In order to reflect the change of Company name, the website of the
Company has been changed from www.winfoong-intl.com to
www.chn-graphene.com with effect from 28 November 2016.

Our Company’s website which contains corporate information,
corporate governance practice, interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars issued by the Company enables the
Company'’s shareholders to have timely and updated information of
the Company.

There was an amendment to the Bye-laws of the Company during
the year of 2016. In the annual general meeting held on 27 May 2016,
the shareholders of the Company approved to increase the
authorized share capital from HK$150,000,000 divided into
3,000,000,000 shares of the Company to HK$1,000,000,000 divided
into 20,000,000,000 shares of the Company by the creation of an
additional 17,000,000,000 new shares. The revised Bye-laws of the
Company has been published on the website of the Company for
information.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Group's strategic objectives, and maintaining appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the
Group. The systems are designed to manage the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Company has employed an external consultant to consider and
comment the Group's financial reporting procedures, system and
internal controls for the year ended 31 December 2016. The
consultant has provided to the Board a review report (the “Report”)
which contain recommendations to address the identified control
design and implementation effectiveness. The Board has reviewed
the Report and has made the improvement to the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems.

A year-end review of the effectiveness of the Company’s and its
subsidiaries risk management and internal control systems has been
conducted annually and the systems are considered to be effective
and adequate.
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Directors’ Biographies
EEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yuan Li Min, aged 57, was appointed as an executive director
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 6 November 2015
and then was appointed as the Deputy Chairman of the Company on
27 November in the same year. He has more than 30 years’ valuable
experience in the capital, investment and financial analysis, and
handled more than 15 listing and fund raising projects in China. Mr.
Yuan is a senior business analyst with American Etech Securities
Inc.. Mr. Yuan was the non-executive director and chairman of Asia
Fashion Holdings Limited, a company listed on the main board of the
Singapore Stock Exchange, during the period from December 2013
to October 2015. He was the general manager of the CAD Company
of the China Ministry of Aerospace from 1987 to 1998 and was an
analyst with the Beijing Government's Finance office from 1982 to
1985. Mr. Yuan graduated with a Bachelor Degree in Finance at the
Beijing Institute of Technology. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Chen Meng, aged 44, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company on 6 November 2015. Mr. Chen has abundance
experience in corporate management, investment and capital
management. Mr. Chan is currently the General Manager of Xin Tian
Di Group Jilin Investment Company Limited and Xin Tian Di
Investment Group Changchun zZhi Ye Company Limited. He was the
general manager of Jilin Long Xin Asset Management Company from
2003 to 2006. Prior to that he was in charge of the Finance
department of the Changchun office of China Petroleum Shares
Company Limited. He is also a director of a subsidiary of the
Company.

Mr. Mak Tin Sang, aged 60, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company on 6 November 2015. Mr. Mak has relevant
professional knowledge and abundance experience in financial
management, audit and accounting. Mr. Mak was an executive
director and the CEO of Asia Fashion Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the main board of the Singapore Stock Exchange, from May
2015 to June 2016, and was subsequently re-designated as the
executive director and the CFO of that company up to now.
Previously, Mr. Mak joined Singapore Catalyst-listed Armarda Group
Limited as the CFO in 2004 and was appointed as an executive
director in June 2013. Mr. Mak was the CFO of another Singapore
main board listed company LottVision Limited between August 2001
and September 2003. Mr. Mak holds a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration awarded by the University of Sheffield, U.K.. He is also
a fellow member of the United Kingdom Chartered Association of
Certified Accountants and an associate member of the Australian
Certified Management Accountants. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.
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Directors’ Biographies
EEERFE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Li Feng Mao, aged 47, was appointed as an executive director
and the Chairman of the Company on 6 November 2015. Mr. Li is an
entrepreneur who focused on investment holding and corporate
management and has investments in various enterprises mainly
located in the Jilin province, China. The business of these enterprises
cover railroad communication & logistics, mining and refinery,
natural resources, property development, banking, and financial
leasing, etc. Mr. Li holds a Doctor of Philosophy Degree awarded by
the Jilin University of China. Mr. Li is the sole owner of HK Guoxin
Investment Group Limited, the controlling shareholder of the
Company. He is also director of several subsidiaries of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Leung Po Hon, aged 53, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 6 November 2015 and
was then appointed as the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company on 27 November in the same year. Mr.
Leung has more than 25 years of experience in accounting, auditing
and financial management, he is currently a practicing certified
public accountant. Mr. Leung has served as an independent non-
executive director of Kingbo Strike Limited (Stock Code: 1421) since
13 November 2015 and up to now. He was also the independent
non-executive director of China Investment Fund International
Holdings Limited (formerly known as China Investment Fund
Company Limited) (Stock Code: 0612) and Success Dragon
International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1182), and then resigned
and retired respectively in 2016. The aforesaid companies are listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr.
Leung has also served as an independent non-executive director of
Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8030) since
August 2014 and Medinet Group Limited (Stock Code: 8161) since 19
May 2016 up to now. The aforesaid companies are listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange Hong Kong Limited.
Mr. Leung graduated and obtained a Professional Diploma in
accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University). He then obtained a Master
Degree in Business Administration from the University of Bradford of
the United Kingdom. Mr. Leung is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountant and a fellow member of the
Chartered Certified Accountants.
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Directors’ Biographies
EEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Li Jing Bo, aged 45, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 6 November 2015 and then
was appointed as the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company on 27 November in the same year. Mr. Li has over 20 years
of experience in finance industry. Mr. Li was a manager of the
security management department of Fuyou Securities Brokerage Co,
Ltd., and he worked for Soochow Securities Co., Limited as deputy
general manager of online trading department and then became
general manager of the Shanghai branch. He acted as deputy general
manager of the human resource department of Essence Securities
Co., Limited from 2006 to 2009. In January 2010, Mr. Li Jing Bo was
appointed as general manager of Essence Futures Co., Limited and
then has been serving as the director of Essence International
Financial Holding Limited since April 2012.

Mr. Shigeki Tanaka, aged 52, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 6 November 2015,
subsequently was appointed as the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Company on 27 November in the
same year. Mr. Tanaka has been serving T&C Medical Science, Inc.,
the holding company of T&C XTF Japan, Inc. and acting as the chief
executive officer of the Company since 2001, a company listed on
Tokyo Stock Exchange JASDAQ (Growth)). Mr. Tanaka was senior
management of Mizuho Securities Co., Ltd, Credit Lyonnais
Securities, Tokyo and Tokai Tokyo Securities Co., Ltd. respectively
from April 1998 to August 2001.

BMFRHITES (A)

ZTERELE OE RZE—AF+—ARAE
RERARRABIUIIFNTES - RRREF+—
AZTLtREZERARRAFMEESIE - N
LEZZEGLREZEZEQEE - FREARSH
ERABNFLER - TEEBREABHERLA
RETRAANBELZZHEHLE  TEREIRRE
HFERMBRAFE LR ZEOENEEE - BEK
REBOTBREE - FR-_ZFTFE_ZFT
NFRELERFROHBRAIFASNERIEE
BE - R-_F—TF—F FAELEBZERLE
HEARECARMAKE Y5 _FT——FMN
AEEEREERERIZERERARNES -

HeEREE 5225 RZE—HF+—AXA
BEEZERARRBIYIFRNTES  HERABF
+— A+t REZEALRFREEZETEE
UWkBZZEEhTHEEEEE - HREER
— T —F#E R T&C Medical Science, Inc. * 5%
ABT&C XTF Japan, Inc. BZRR AR + BiZ A EHTT
R4, - %2 Rl B 2R3 55 32 AT JASDAQ (Growth)
W BREER—NMNNFNAZE_ZEZT—F
J\A % Bl Mizuho Securities Co., Ltd ~ B &%
RRAGERREBRABHFBRAFELSRER
AB

Annual Report 2016 « —Z— NFEFH 31



Independent Auditor’s Report
B R E RS

N\ Crowe Horwath.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA GRAPHENE GROUP LIMITED (formerly known as Winfoong
International Limited)

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Graphene Group Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) set out on pages 39 to 130, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2016 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”)
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B ZBARE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation of inventories - completed properties held
for sale
Refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

The carrying value of the completed properties held for sale as
included in inventories was HK$248,319,000 as at 31 December 2016.
We identified the valuation of completed properties held for sale as a
key audit matter due to the significance of the balance to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, together with the
significant judgments and estimates made by the management in
determining the net realisable value.

The management determined the net realisable value of the completed
properties held for sale with reference to the valuations performed by
an independent professional valuer (the “valuer”) engaged by the Group.
The valuation was performed by the direct comparison approach, which
involved the use of estimates and assumptions including recent sales
price of similar properties with adjustments for any difference in locality
and condition of the properties.

How our audit address the key audit matter
Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment of the
carrying value of the completed properties held for sale included:

o Assessing the appropriateness of the methodologies used by
management for the assessment of the net realisable value of
the completed properties held for sale.

o Assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
valuer.

o Discussing with the management about the valuation
techniques adopted by the valuer and assessing the relevance
and reasonableness of valuation techniques used by the
valuer.

o Considering whether the adjusting factors used in by the valuer
fell within a reasonable range with reference to our knowledge
of property industry and in which the properties are located.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Collectability of escrow money receivable
Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

The carrying value of the escrow money receivable as included in
trade and other receivables was Japanese Yen 300 million (equivalent
to HK$20,351,000). We identified the collectability of escrow money
receivable as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
balance to the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
together with the significant management judgments in determining
the collectability.

How our audit address the Key Audit Matter

Our procedures in relation to management'’s judgment of the

collectability of the escrow money receivable included:

o Assessing the Group's processes and controls relating to the
monitoring of escrow money receivable and identifying any
impairment indicators.

o Obtaining and reviewing corroborative evidence including the
escrow agreement, bank advice and correspondence between
the Group and counterparties.

] Obtaining direct confirmation from the escrow agent.

o Performing company search on the escrow agent.

o Considering whether any post year-end payment had been
received up to the date of completing our procedures.

o Assessing the Group's disclosures in the financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B R E RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

] Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR RS

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B R E RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT KBRS BRERKIENS
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL fE(48)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we HEEZEZESEBNEIED - BB TULSE
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit B AHRMNGEMBERENERRAEE -
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and Mk A EZFEIE - B (FIEZEEN RS
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in = FLEE - BIEERERIA T AFARBEE LS
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public B siFEfRIEEEANBAT WREEEBHER
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare fIfEPEBEEEEEKNNEEHERBEESD
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be AZEFZ - BISA T NEERS BB EIE -
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of

doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited BEELE(FR) SIS ERAT
Certified Public Accountants HESEFED

Hong Kong, 20 March 2017 BB ZT—tF=A=+H

Lam Cheung Shing MERK

Practlsing Certificate Number P03552 N EE B ER R PO3552
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consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
mEEBERR

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

2016 2015
—E—XxF —ET—RF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BT 5T FExT FH&T
Revenue Uk % 4 5,442 12,210
Cost of sales HEK A (894) (5,611)
Gross profit ER 4,548 6,599
Net gain/(loss) on trading securities R HEHEWE (E18) B 48 73)
Other revenue H bz 5 7,321 7,012
Other net income E MU A F5E 5 5,052 519
Operating and administrative expenses £&4& 1T X (59,848) (40,652)
Finance costs B E R AN 6(a) (1,068) =
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — A B A mldkaR 32 - 126
Loss before taxation BRBATEE 6 (43,947) (26,469)
Income tax expense BRI 7 - -
Loss for the year FREE (43,947) (26,469)
Attributable to: DU FEE -
Equity shareholders of the Company RAGIERFFE A (43,947) (26,469)
Non-controlling interests IEIE AR E R - -
Loss for the year FREE (43,947) (26,469)
Loss per share BREE 10
Basic HA HK cent (1.56) &4l  HK cent (0.99) 711l
Diluted b3 HK cent (1.56) &1l  HK cent (0.99) 1l

The notes on pages 45 to 130 form part of these financial EASB R E 108 2B S BRETz —
statements. 2845 o

sUd?
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
FeBEakHEMEZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— X F+_A=+—HIFE

2016 2015
—E—XREF —E-HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Loss for the year FrEE (43,947) (26,469)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income FRHEMEE(ER), WA
for the year
ltems that may be reclassified HignsEmoEsEmscEE
subsequently to profit or loss
Available-for-sale financial assets: AEEESRHEE
net movement in the fair value N ERE EEF5E
reserve (net of nil tax): mPIE Y R
— Changes in fair value recognised - FADERZ A FEEZE
during the year (200) 2,900
— Reclassification of cumulative fair -HETHEESMEE Y
value gain attributable to disposal ZEH AT ERET
of available-for-sale financial assets BN BREER
to profit or loss (4,930) -
(5,130) 2,900
Exchange differences: EHZERR
— Exchange differences on translation -IEBEBRINES 2
of financial statements of TREEMEEDN
operations outside Hong Kong X =58 (7,656) =
Other comprehensive(loss)/ income, Hih2mE (FE]) WA
net of nil tax (BREHIER) (12,786) 2,900
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRAZHEEAE (56,733) (23,569)
Attributable to: BUT e -
Equity shareholders of the Company KAFIE=FB A (56,733) (23,569)
Non-controlling interests FEVERAR M = =
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRZTHEBRARE (56,733) (23,569)

o

The notes on pages 45 to 130 form part of these financial Z4585Z%1308
&5

statements.
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consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B BRI R

As at 31 December 2016 RW_Z— X F+_-_A=+—8H

2016 2015
—E—XRE —ET—hF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
PEE FET FET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - R MR E 12 6,630 4,335
Available-for-sale financial assets AHEESMEE 14 = 6,500
Restricted bank deposits ZRRHISRITIEK 19 8,120 =
14,750 10,835
Current assets REEE
Trading securities R #EH 15 581 548
Inventories T8 16 248,750 244,811
Loan receivables EUE R 17 2,344 22,081
Trade and other receivables H 5 R H M EWERIR 18 26,739 4,461
Cash and cash equivalents B RIRSZEEY 19 75,587 11,018
354,001 282,919
current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERNRIE 20 17,198 5,468
Bank loan IRITER 21 120,000 =
137,198 5,468
Net current assets REBEEFE 216,803 277,451
NET ASSETS EEFHE 231,553 288,286
Capital and reserves IR (&1
Share capital R AN 24 140,955 140,955
Reserves B 25 90,598 147,331
Total equity attributable to AERRERBFEA
equity shareholders of E LR 4AEE
the Company 231,553 288,286
Non-controlling interests FEE IR R = -
TOTAL EQUITY RS 231,553 288,286

BENEVEEFBOEZHEAVBRRIIAES
ERN_E—LF=ZRA-THEERKRETE I
HINIESERERRE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 39 to 130 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20
March 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

Yuan Li Min Mak Tin Sang
RIR BRE
Director Director

EF EF

The notes on pages 45 to 130 form part of these financial
Statements.

oy

FASBEEE10H 2 WEBRILETBERER 2 —
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #HE—T— A "F+_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ARARRREARGEER
Reserves
it
Capital
redemp- Share Fair Non-
Share Share tion option  Exchange value  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits  Sub-total Total interests equity
i BhRE AE 2R

Bx  BiiR RERE f#E EXGE R REEN it it L
HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00 KO0 HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSOO0  HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKS00
TEL TR TER  TAT  TERL TR TERr  TER  TET  TERL  TAR

At 1 January 2015 R-E-1%-f-H 131,790 541 12 9,285 - 2230 .79 158,656 290,446 - 290,446
Comprenensive income: 2E4E:
Loss for the year EnER - - - - - - M9 6469 (6469 - 26469)

Other comprenensive income: —— Efe 2 B :
Fairvalue changes onavallable  THHESREEY

for-sale financial assets ATERD - - - - _ 2,900 - 2900 2900 - 2900
Total comprehenive loss FREAFIEEE
for the year - - - - - 2,900 (26,469 (23569) (23569) - (23569)
Shares issued under REBRETS
share option scheme BERA 95 25M - = = oM N4 - W
At 31 December 2015 R-Z-1F
+-A=+-H 140,955 26,770 2 - - 5130 115,310 147331 288,286 - 288286
At 1 January 2016 RZF-~E-A-A
Comprehensive income; 2ENE:
Loss for the year EnER

Other comprenensive income: - Efb 2 AN :
Fair value changes on avallable- ~ TEHESBAE
for-sale financial assets ATERY
Reclassification of cumulative HETRIESHEE
fair value gain attributable to LR 2R TE
disposal of available-for-sale lerEinEaE]
financial assets

Exchange differences on HEEBRINEHL
translation of financia HBRRAEEN
statements of operations EHEE
outside Hong Kong

Total comprehensive loss ENEEEREE
for the year
At31 Decerber 2016 RIF-nF
tzAzt+-A

H

The notes on pages 45 to 130 form part of the financial statements.

o

ASHEF1B0AZMEBRILFHBHRE 2 —
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consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

2016 2015
—EB—XKE —E—HEF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE FET FH&T
Operating activities REEK
Loss before taxation PR B &S 18 (43,947) (26,469)
Adjustments for: BT AR :
Surplus on revaluation of buildings EFES (BBt (1) (32)
Amortisation of leasehold land TS b 12 21
Depreciation of other property, Hz - BEREETE
plant and equipment 1,164 125
Interest income FLEMA (1) 61)
Interest expense FMERAX 1,068 -
Net realised and unrealised (gain)/Ioss on RSB H IR M AREIR
trading securities (=), EBFE (48) 73
Foreign exchange difference SNFEFEE 5 2= KR (816) -
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BEMEHE
plant and equipment (M=), B8 (121) 8
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEARPNESRHEES
financial assets Wz (4,930) =
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HENBARAKE = (126)
Changes in working capital: BEESE
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEGEMm, B (3,939) 3,551
Decrease/(increase) in trading securities RS FHRAD /(3 m) 15 (188)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and g5 & EmEWARIR
other receivables (1), E (4,766) 551
Decrease/(increase) in loan receivables ERE TR,/ (35 ) 19,737 (22,081)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B 5N EMEMIRIR
other payables #hn, CRid) 11,581 (3,947)
Cash used in operations REFAZRAS (24,992) (48,575)
Tax paid BRHIA
Hong Kong profits tax paid EREBNEH - -
Net cash used in operating activities REERFEACRESTHE (24,992) (48,575)
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consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HZE—-Z

—RETZA=T-BLEE

2016 2015
—NE —hE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE FET FH&T
Investing activities REEE
Payment for purchase of property, BAME  BEREEZ
plant and equipment NE (3,793) (3,880)
Proceeds from sale of property, HEME  BEKERHE
plant and equipment Frig kI8 121 -
Proceeds from sale of available-for- HEAHEESHMEE
sale financial assets Frf8 k18 6,300 -
Net cash inflow on disposal of a subsidiary HEHRBRARZRER
HER = 495
Payment for escrow money AEEMR (20,351) -
Increase in restricted bank deposits PR HIERI T 7 SR AN (8,120) -
Interest received 2 HFIE 1 62
Net cash used in investing activities RETHRERAZRE TS (25,842) (3,323)
Financing activities R EEE
Proceeds from bank loan IRITEFRTIS R 120,000 -
Interest paid BERFE (919) =
Proceeds from shares issued under BRI T EEITRMD
share option scheme FriS5IE = 21,409
Net cash generated from REEEFIEEZ
financing activities ReFE 119,081 21,409
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRBEEBY2
cash equivalents i, (GRd) B 68,247 (30,489)
Cash and cash equivalents at REFNZEER
the beginning of the year ReZEY 11,018 41,507
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXR#5 & (3,678) =
Cash and cash equivalents at RERZEER
the end of the year REEEY 19 75,587 11,018

The notes on pages 45 to 130 form part of these financial

statements.

#B
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Notes to the Financial Statements
g% Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Graphene Group Limited (formerly known as Winfoong
International Limited) (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda and acts as an investment
holding company. Its shares are listed on the Main Board of the
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of the registered office of the
Company is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda. The principal place of business of the
Company is changed from Room 3201, 9 Queen'’s Road Central,
Hong Kong to Rooms 1904-1916,19/F, Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30
Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The principal activities of
its principal subsidiaries are property development and
construction, property management, money lending, provision
of horticultural services, manufacturing and sale of graphene
and graphene related products and security trading.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Sstatement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group and the Company.
Note 3 provides information on the initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the Group for the current and prior accounting years
reflected in these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
g% L R

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— X F+_A=+—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EgGFBUER (&)

46

(CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2016 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that
the following assets are stated at their fair value as
explained in the accounting policies set out below:

- buildings (see note 2(f)); and

— financial instruments classified as available-for-sale
securities or as trading securities (see note 2(e)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSS requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in note 29.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
g% Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES(CONTINUED)

2. FESFEEGE)

(c) Segment reporting (c) P EHRE

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
executive directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker, for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and any
unrealised profits arising from intragroup transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.
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B 75 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— X F+_A=+—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in
respect of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate

share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests and

the equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the
amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no

gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset (see note 2(e)) or, when
appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment

in an associate or joint venture .

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(h)), unless the investment is classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is

classified as held for sale).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
g% Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. FESFEEGE)

(e) Other investments in debt and equity securities () NERRBRAEAZFHAZEMIEE

The Group's and the Company’s policies for investments in
debt and equity securities, other than investments in
subsidiaries, are as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially stated
at fair value, which is their transaction price unless it is
determined that the fair value at initial recognition differs
from the transaction price and that fair value is evidenced
by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset
or liability or based on a valuation technique that uses only
data from observable markets. Cost includes attributable
transaction costs, except where indicated otherwise below.
These investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification:

Investments in securities held for trading are classified as
current assets. Any attributable transaction costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At the end of each
reporting period the fair value is remeasured, with any
resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit or l0ss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include
any dividends or interest earned on these investments as
these are recognised in accordance with the policies set
out in note 2(q)(iv) and (v).

Dated debt securities that the Group and/or the Company
have the positive ability and intention to hold to maturity
are classified as held-to-maturity securities. Held-to
maturity securities are stated at amortised cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(h)).
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HZE—-Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

50

(CONTINUED)

(e) Other investments in debt and equity securities

(continued)

Investments in securities which do not fall into any of the
above categories are classified as available-for-sale
securities. At the end of each reporting period the fair value
is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the fair value reserve.
As an exception to this, investments in equity securities
that do not have a quoted price in an active market for an
identical instrument and whose fair value cannot otherwise
be reliably measured are recognised in the statement of
financial position at cost less impairment losses (see note
2(h)). Dividend income from equity securities and interests
income from debt securities calculated using the effective
interest method are recognised in profit or loss in
accordance with the policies set out in notes 2(q)(iv) and
2(q)(v), respectively. When the investments are
derecognised or impaired (see note 2(h)), the cumulative
gain or loss recognised in equity is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the
Group commits to purchase/sell the investments or they
expire.

(f) Property, plant and equipment

Buildings held for own use which are situated on leasehold
land, where the fair value of the building could be
measured separately from the fair value of the leasehold
land at the inception of the lease (see note 2(g)) are stated
at their revalued amount, being their fair value at the date
of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation.

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to
ensure that the carrying amount of these assets does not
differ materially from that which would be determined
using fair values at the end of reporting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The other items of property, plant and equipment are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 2(h)).

Changes arising on the revaluation of properties held for
own use are generally dealt with in other comprehensive
income and are accumulated separately in equity in
property revaluation reserve. The only exceptions are as
follows:

— when a deficit arises on revaluation, it will be charged
to profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the amount
held in the reserve in respect of that same asset
immediately prior to the revaluation; and

— when a surplus arises on revaluation, it will be credited
to profit or loss to the extent that a deficit on
revaluation in respect of that same asset had previously
been charged to profit or loss.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which
they are located, and an appropriate proportion of
production overheads and borrowing costs (see note 2(s)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in
profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal. Any
related revaluation surplus is transferred from the property
revaluation reserve to retained profits and is not
reclassified to profit or 10ss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— X F+_A=+—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBK (@)
(CONTINUED)
(f) Property, plant and equipment (continued) f) W% - BMERNRE (E)
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation ME - BB RREEBRAT ZEA
of items of property, plant and equipment, less their B LA B4R A MU SE AR AR sk (B R E
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-line FlerrEREE (A ) UAFTERE -

method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

- Leasehold land classified as held under finance leases - DEAEBMEREREZHEL RN
is depreciated over the term of lease. AN ERE -

- Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated - EREAStHZETREEANTR
over their estimated useful lives of 40 years. HAPR A0 FHARHTE

- Furniture, equipment and motor vehicles are - Rk RERTEDSFITE -

depreciated over 5 years.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment EWME  BELNREEBE AR H
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the item NEME R - BB 2 KA HEE
is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and TR ZEIEEBEESR - FEZE
each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of Do EITE - BEZAIFEAFHK
an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed BERSBER(WE) BSFR -
annually.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset
or assets for an agreed period of time in return for a
payment or a series of payments. Such a determination is
made based on an evaluation of the substance of the
arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement
takes the legal form of a lease.

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held under
finance leases. Leases which do not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group are classified as operating leases, with the
following exceptions:

— property held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property is classified as investment property on a
property-by-property basis and, if classified as
investment property, is accounted for as if held
under a finance lease; and

— land held for own use under an operating lease, the
fair value of which cannot be measured separately
from the fair value of a building situated thereon at
the inception of the lease, is accounted for as being
held under a finance lease, unless the building is
also clearly held under an operating lease. For these
purposes, the inception of the lease is the time that
the lease was first entered into by the Group, or
taken over from the previous lessee.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

54

(CONTINUED)

(g) Leased assets (continued)

(ii) Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under
finance leases, the amounts representing the fair value
of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the
minimum lease payments, of such assets are
recognised as property, plant and equipment and the
corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges, are
recorded as obligations under finance leases.
Depreciation is provided at rates which write off the
cost or valuation of the assets over the term of the
relevant lease or, where it is likely the Group will obtain
ownership of the asset, the life of the asset, as set out
in note 2(f). Impairment losses are accounted for in
accordance with the accounting policy as set out in
note 2(h). Finance charges implicit in the lease
payments are charged to profit or loss over the period
of the leases so as to produce an approximately
constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining
balance of the obligations for each accounting period.
Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

(iii) Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases are
charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset.
Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or
loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease
payments made. Contingent rentals are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating
lease is amortised on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease term except where the property is
classified as an investment property or is held for
development for sale (see note 2(i)(ii).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
g% Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EESHBEE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(h) Impairment of assets (h) EERE
(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity (i) REERRAZBLENZRERME

securities and receivables

Investments in debt and equity securities and other
current and non-current receivables that are stated at
cost or amortised cost or are classified as available-for-
sale securities are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period to determine whether there is objective
evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of
impairment includes observable data that comes to the
attention of the Group about one or more of the
following loss events:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinguency in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; and

— asignificant or prolonged decline in the fair value of
an investment in an equity instrument below its
COst.

W iRE 2 R 1A

REBEBRAZBFRNZREREMR
B K IE IR B PR MR TR 35 DAPK N 35 85
RAFIR - BRERATHEERS -
HERNBEREPRWEHNABRER S
EEREZRRE FEREEREEAN
SEEBIAT —HXZEEEER
ZBERE

- BEBABEAMBERE

%

- ERAEH MEREZFSHAK
- EBATERENRETEMP K
48

- HEBABTREEZHN - T
5 EERARES Y BARE ;
¥

- BRATAREZRAFEKRNEHE
HTHREENEKAE -

Annual Report 2016 « —Z— NFEFH 55



Notes to the Financial Statements
g% L R
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2,
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h) Impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity
securities and receivables (continued)
If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

— For trade and other current receivables, loan
receivables and other financial assets carried at
amortised cost, the impairment loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition of these assets),
where the effect of discounting is material. The
Group first assesses whether impairment exists
individually for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that
are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of
impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes
the asset in a group of financial assets with similar
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised
are not included in a collective assessment of
impairment.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
linked objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised, the impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal of
an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s
carrying amount exceeding that which would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. TESFHBEE)

(CONTINUED)
(h) Impairment of assets (continued) (h) EERE (&)
(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity (i) REXERBRAZFAZKREREME
securities and receivables (continued) W BRIE 2 e (4E)

— For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative loss
that has been recognised in the fair value reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss. The amount of the
cumulative loss that is recognised in profit or 10ss is
the difference between the acquisition cost (net of
any principal repayment and amortisation) and
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
asset previously recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in
respect of available-for-sale equity securities are not
reversed through profit or loss. Any subsequent
increase in the fair value of such assets is
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Impairment losses in respect of available-for-sale
debt securities are reversed if the subsequent
increase in fair value can be objectively related to
an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised. Reversals of impairment losses in such
circumstances are recognised in profit or 10ss.

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of loan receivables and
trade receivables, whose recovery is considered
doubtful but not remote. In this case, the impairment
losses for doubtful debts are recorded using an
allowance account. When the Group is satisfied that
recovery is remote, the amount considered
irrecoverable is written off against debtors directly and
any amounts held in the allowance account relating to
that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously charged to the allowance account
are reversed against the allowance account. Other
changes in the allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off directly are
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h) Impairment of assets (continued)
(ii) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify
indications that the property, plant and equipment
(other than properties carried at revalued amounts) and
investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement
of financial position may be impaired or, an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

— Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e., a cash-
generating unit).

— Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if
the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. TESFHBEE)

(CONTINUED)
(h) Impairment of assets (continued) (h) EERE (&)
(ii) Impairment of other assets (continued) (i) Bt & E 2z E (#E)
- Reversals of impairment losses - RBOREEE
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a WAL ET TR E 452 H5HE
favourable change in the estimates used to WEFEE  FERBESEST
determine the recoverable amount. e EI

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the BREZREEBEABEIFEILR
asset’'s carrying amount that would have been ERAREEEMEEEECEE
determined had no impairment loss been HEFEAR - B2 REREE
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment Ty FEREE R 2 FE N AER
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in =

which the reversals are recognised.

(i) Inventories (i) #&
(i) Horticultural services (i) BEZRH%

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised. The
amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the
period in which the reversal occurs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Inventories (continued)
(ii) Property development
Inventories in respect of property development
activities are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost and net realisable values are
determined as follows:

— Property under development for sale

The cost of properties under development for sale
comprises specifically identified cost, including the
acquisition cost of land, aggregate cost of
development, materials and supplies, wages and
other direct expenses, an appropriate proportion of
overheads and borrowing costs capitalised (see
note 2(s)). Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in selling the
property.

— Completed property held for sale
In the case of completed properties developed by
the Group, cost is determined by apportionment of
the total development costs for that development
project, attributable to the unsold properties. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling
price less costs to be incurred in selling the

property.

The cost of completed properties held for sale
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories
to their present location and condition.

(j) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less allowance for impairment of
doubtful debts (see note 2(h)), except where the
receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties
without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of
discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the
receivables are stated at cost less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost with any difference between the amount
initially recognised and redemption value being recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together
with any interest and fees payable, using the effective
interest method.

() Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured in
accordance with note 2(p)(i), trade and other payables are
subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
Stated at cost.

(m)Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition.

(n) Employee benefits
(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions

to defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is
deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n) Employee benefits (continued)
(ii) Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in share option reserve within equity. The fair
value is measured at grant date using the binomial
option pricing model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted.
Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to the options,
the total estimated fair value of the options is spread
over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for
the year of the review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.
On vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the share
option reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to
not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the
market price of the Company’s shares. The equity
amount is recognised in the share option reserve until
either the option is exercised (when it is transferred to
the share premium account) or the option expires
(when it is released directly to retained profits).

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

(o) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of
tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(o) Income tax (continued)

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised. Future
taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
include those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same
period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary differences or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets
and liabilities are those temporary differences arising from
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not
part of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in
the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

64

(CONTINUED)

(o) Income tax (continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it
becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. FESFEEGE)

(p) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and P ABEHHBER BERIRE
contingent liabilities &
(i) Financial guarantees issued (i) A&tz B BIER

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e., the guarantor) to make specified payments
to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair
value of the guarantee is initially recognised as deferred
income within trade and other payables. The fair value
of financial guarantees issued at the time of issuance is
determined by reference to fees charged in an arm’s
length transaction for similar services, when such
information is obtainable, or is otherwise estimated by
reference to interest rate differentials, by comparing
the actual rates charged by lenders when the guarantee
is made available with the estimated rates that lenders
would have charged, had the guarantees not been
available, where reliable estimates of such information
can be made. Where consideration is received or
receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with the
Group's policies applicable to that category of asset.
Where no such consideration is received or receivable,
an immediate expense is recognised in profit or loss on
initial recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as
deferred income is amortised in profit or loss over the
term of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued. In addition, provisions are
recognised in accordance with note 2(p)(i) if and when
(i) it becomes probable that the holder of the guarantee
will call upon the Group under the guarantee, and (ii)
the amount of that claim on the Group is expected to
exceed the amount currently carried in trade and other
payables in respect of that guarantee, that is, the
amount initially recognised, less accumulated
amortisation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— X F+_A=+—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. FESFHEEE)

(p) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and P FBEHHBER BERIRE
contingent liabilities (continued) BE(E)

(ii) other provisions and contingent liabilities (i) EbBEREAEE

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group or the
Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected
to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.
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(q) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue
is recognised in profit or loss as follows:
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(i) Sale of properties (i) YEHE

When properties under development are sold, income
is recognised when the property development is
completed with the relevant occupation permit issued
by the authorities and the significant risks and rewards
of the ownership of the properties are passed to the
buyers. Deposits and instalments received on properties
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sold prior to the date of revenue recognition are
recorded as forward sales deposits and instalments
received.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBEEK(E)
(CONTINUED)
(g) Revenue recognition (continued) (q) Wz ()
(i) Sale of goods (i) HEEY

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at the
customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in
time when the customer has accepted the goods and
the related risks and rewards of ownership. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

(iii) Service income

Service income is recognised when the relevant
services are rendered.

(iv)Dividends

— Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established.

- Dividend income from listed investments is
recognised when the share price of the investment
goes ex-dividend.

(v) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

(vi)Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over
the periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the use of the leased
asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit
or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease
payments receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised
as income in the accounting period in which they are
earned.

(vii) Management fee income

Management fee income is recognised at the time
when the services are rendered.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

68

(CONTINUED)

(r) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Statement of financial position items are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount
of the exchange differences relating to that foreign
operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when
the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset
for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

(t) Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group's parent.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(t) Related parties (continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii)A person identified in (a)()) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii The entity, or any member of a group of which itis a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HZE_-Z

—RETZA=+-BLEE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

Amendments to HKFRS 11

Accounting for Acquisi

itions of

Interest in Joint Operations

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16 and
HKAS 38

Amendments to HKAS 16 and
HKAS 41

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSS

Disclosure Initiative

Clarification of Acceptable Methods
of Depreciation and Amortisation

Agriculture: Bearer Plants

Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception

Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2010-2014 Cycle
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 11, Accounting for
Acquisitions of Interest in Joint Operations

The amendments to HKFRS 11 provide guidance on how to
account for the acquisition of a joint operation that constitutes
a business as defined in HKFRS 3 Business Combinations.
Specifically, the amendments state that the relevant principles
on accounting for business combinations in HKFRS 3 and other
standards (for example, HKAS 12 Income Taxes regarding the
recognition of deferred tax at the time of acquisition and HKAS
36 Impairment of Assets regarding impairment testing of a
cash-generating unit to which goodwill on acquisition of a joint
operation has been allocated) should be applied. The same
requirements should be applied to the formation of a joint
operation if and only if an existing business is contributed to
the joint operation by one of the parties that participate in the
joint operation.

A joint operator is also required to disclose the relevant
information required by HKFRS 3 and other standards for
business combinations.

The amendments have been applied prospectively to
acquisitions of interests in joint operations (in which the
activities of the joint operations constitute businesses as
defined in HKFRS 3) occurring from the beginning of the current
year. The amendments do not have an impact on these
financial statements as the Group has no acquisitions of
interest in joint operations.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments to HKAS 1 clarify that an entity need not
provide a specific disclosure required by an HKFRS if the
information resulting from that disclosure is not material, and
give guidance on the bases of aggregating and disaggregating
information. However, the amendments reiterate that an entity
should consider providing additional disclosures when
compliance with the specific requirements in HKFRS is
insufficient to enable users of financial statements to
understand the impact of particular transactions, events and
conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial
performance.

In addition, the amendments clarify that an entity’s share of
the other comprehensive income of associates and joint
ventures accounted for using the equity method should be
presented separately from those arising from the Group, and
should be separated into the share of items that, in accordance
with other HKFRSs; (i) will not be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss; and (i) will be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss when specific conditions are met.

As regard the structure of the financial statements, the
amendments provide examples of systematic ordering or
grouping of the notes. The amendments have had no
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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3.
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74

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38
Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation

The amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
prohibit entities from using a revenue-based depreciation
method for items of property, plant and equipment. The
amendments to HKAS 38 Intangible Assets introduce a
rebuttable presumption that revenue is not an appropriate
basis for amortisation of an intangible asset. This presumption
can only be rebutted in the following two limited
circumstances;

(@ when the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of
revenue, or

(b) when it can be demonstrated that revenue and
consumption of the economic benefits of the intangible
asset are highly correlated.

In addition, the amendments also clarify that in choosing an
appropriate amortisation method an entity could determine the
predominant limiting factor that is inherent in the intangible
asset.

The amendments do not have an impact on these financial
statements as the Group does not use a revenue-based
depreciation method for property, plant and equipment and
does not have intangible assets.

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 41
Agriculture: Bearer Plants

The amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
and HKAS 41 Agriculture define a bearer plant and require
biological assets that meet the definition of a bearer plant to be
accounted for as properly, plant and equipment in accordance
with HKAS 16, instead of HKAS 41. The produce growing on
bearer plants continues to be accounted for in accordance
with HKAS 41.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 41
Agriculture: Bearer Plants (continued)

The amendments do not have an impact on these financial
statements as the Group does not have bearer plants.

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS
28 Investment Entitles: Applying the
consolidation Exception

The Group has applied the amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS
12 and HKAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation
Exception for the first time in the current year. The
amendments clarify that the exemption from preparing
consolidated financial statements is available to a parent entity
that is a subsidiary of an investment entity, even if the
investment entity measures all its subsidiaries at fair value in
accordance with HKFRS 10. The amendments also clarify that
the requirement for an investment entity to consolidate a
subsidiary, whose main purpose is to provide services and
activities that are related to the investment activities of the
investment entity parent, applies only to subsidiaries that are
not investment entities themselves.

The amendments do not have an impact on these financial
statements as the Group is not an investment entity.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle

The Group has applied the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2012-2014 Cycle for the first time in the current year which
include a number of amendments to various HKFRSs as
summarised below.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle
(continued)

The amendments to HKFRS 5 clarify when an entity reclassifies
an asset (or a disposal group) from held for sale to held for
distribution to owners (or vice versa), such a change should be
considered as a continuation of the original plan of disposal
and hence requirements set out in HKFRS 5 regarding the
change of sale of plan do not apply. The amendments also
clarify the guidance for when held-for-distribution accounting
is discontinued.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 provide additional guidance to
clarify whether a servicing contract constitutes continuing
involvement in a transferred asset for the purpose of the
disclosures required in relation to transferred assets.

The amendments to HKAS 19 clarify that the rate used to
discount post-employment benefit obligations should be
determined by reference to market yields at the end of the
reporting period on high quality corporate bonds. The
assessment of the depth of a market for high qualify corporate
bonds should be at the currency level (i.e, the same currency
as the benefits are to be paid). For currencies for which there
is no deep market in such high quality corporate bonds, the
market yields at the end of the reporting period on
governments bonds dominated in that currency should be
used instead.

The above amendments do not have an impact on these
financial statements as the Group does not have the related
items.

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.
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4. REVENUE 4. Wi

The amount of each significant category of revenue during the

year is as follows:

FAZTERNWSER 2 BT

2016 2015
—E-XF —E—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FiET
Sales of properties RS - 7,100
Provision of property management services RERHYMEERRT 2 W 121 175
Provision of horticultural services RERHEEZRT K 4,830 4,854
Loan interest income BHR A 491 81
5,442 12,210
OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET INCOME 5. HtUs= R EAW A FEE
2016 2015
—EB—XREF —E-HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Other revenue Hitugzs
Bank interest income HRITHEMA 1 61
Management fee income (note 28(b)) EEBUA (HFE28(D)) - 204
Rental income from operating leases EMELE YA 6,953 6,395
Dividend income from equity securities A FEH TSI BUA 27 23
Others Hib 340 329
7,321 7,012
Other net income Ht A\ F5E
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEMHEEeMEEZ
financial assets (transfer from equity) Wik (e sdag) 4,930 -
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, HEME  BENKREZ
plant and equipment Wz, (&18) 121 @)
Surplus on revaluation of buildings BFEHAK 1 32
Others Hib - 495
5,052 519

During the year, the interest income that was derived from FR - RETEAFEFABENESRMEE
financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss & 8 A492,00078 T ( ZF — A F : 142,000
amounted to HK$492,000 (2015: HK$142,000). BIT) °

Annual Report 2016 « —ZE—XNEER 77



Notes to the Financial Statements
g% L R

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— X F+_A=+—HIFE

6.

78

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 6. BRFLAIEE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging: BRBIERE NG
2016 2015
—E-RE —ET—TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
(a) Finance costs (a) @MERR
Interest on bank loan RITERZFE 1,068 -
Total interest expense on financial TMEAFEF ABTEH
liabilities not at fair value cRBEBFRERXY
through profit or loss 1,068 -
(b) Staff costs (including (b) EIRK(BEEEM2)
directors’emoluments)
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TERHEMBER 37,127 26,819
Contributions to defined contribution ST RIRET B3R
retirement plan (note 30) (Ff17£30) 489 345
37,616 27,164
(c) Otheritems (c) H#EAE
Amortisation of leasehold land THE £ i 2 5 12 21
Depreciation of property, plant Yz - BE Xk
and equipment BiEITE 1,164 125
Auditors’ remuneration 1% ERAT BN <
- audit services — B RTE 570 481
— other services —H AR 72 140
Operating lease charges: LAY
minimum lease payments RIEALOR
—land and buildings — T RIETF 4,564 2,322
Cost of inventories (note 16) BFERA (EE16) 894 5,611
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7.

INCOME TAX

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of

—RETZA=+-BLEE

7. FiBH

(a) ZEBEHERRNZBIA

profit or loss

No Hong Kong Profits Tax for the years ended 31 December
2016 and 2015 has been provided for as the Group has no
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for both
years.

No Japan Profits Tax for the year ended 31 December 2016
has been provided for as the Group has no estimated
assessable profits arising in Japan. No Japan Profits Tax for
the year ended 31 December 2015 has been provided for
as the Group only commenced the operations in Japan in
the current year.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda and the
British Virgin Islands, the Group is not subject to any
income tax in these jurisdictions.

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and

HRASRERMFEFARBELEBEL G
AAERBEAN  MEBE_T-RERZ
E-AF+-_A=t—HLFEIEE
HEBFISHEE -

HRAS B ER B AE LGS ERR
wH MBE—FT-ARFT-A=1—
BIEFEHENR B AMSRELRE -
HRAEEERAFERAAFRE S
B HEBE_Z-AFt+_A=t—H
IF SRR RL B AP VE 4

REERENRBERLHERENE
REBBBYNZFEREMAER

b RAERABRGAE ZHEARIRES

accounting loss at the applicable tax rates: STESEYER
2016 2015
—E—REF —hE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FiET
Loss before taxation BT Al & 18 (43,947) (26,469)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, BrFiATE e 2 BEBIIA -
calculated at the rates applicable to EHEMEREEEERR
losses in the jurisdictions concerned BEZREFTE (8,070) (4,367)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR EBR MBTE 1,232 946
Tax effect of non-taxable income FERBIUA 2 TR T 2o & (839) (40)
Tax effect of unused tax losses RERZABHEBEEEZ
not recognised Bise 2 7,634 4,078
Tax effect of prior years' tax losses AFESHBEFE 2 HIBEIE
utilised this year BB (3) (4)
Tax effect of temporary difference AERZEBEZR
not recognised 2B E 46 (613)
Actual tax expense ERBEM S = -
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #HE—T— A "F+_A=+—HILFE

8. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 8. EEMS
Directors” emoluments disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules BIE MR RS S D EEG (F383(1)E)
and section 383 (1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance ERATRI(BREBEZEENZER) BHIE — i =E
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about ZEEMEINT :

Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Executive directors: HTES:

Chen Meng R

Mak Tin Sang ERE

Yuan Li Min, Chief Exectiive Officer RUR - fTRH;
Non-executive director: FHTEE:

Li Feng Mao, Chairman XS R
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHAES:
Leung Po Hon 28%

LilingBo 5K

Shigeki Tanaka ikl

80 China Graphene Group Limited « FEFAEBERAR



Notes to the Financial Statements
g% Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2016 #HE-—ZT— R F+_A=+—HILFE

8. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) 8. EEM= (&)

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme 2015
fee in kind bonuses  contributions Total
¢ 25 “2-1F
ESHe  REDIR B RIGHEIER ait

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TR TR TR TR TR

Executive directors: IES:
Cheong Pin Chuan, Patrick, iR
(resigned on 27 November 2015) (RZB-RET-AZTAZH) - 2405 630 = 3035
Cheong Sim Eng, it
(resigned on 27 November 2015) (M=Z-RF+-A-TtAZE) - 19 630 19 668
Cheong Hooi Kheng #=0
(resigned on 27 November 2015) (R=B-RE+-A=+tAZH) - 981 630 17 1,628
Chen Meng 33
(appointed on 6 November 2015) (R=E-RF+-AAREZRA) - 453 - 3 461
Mak Tin Sang N
(appointed on 6 November 2015) (RZE-RFT-AABEZA) - 453 - 3 161
Yuan Li Min, Chief Executive Officer RIR  1HEH
(appointed on 6 November 2015) (R=E-RE+-A~REZH) - 122 = 3 1205
- 5,543 1,890 45 7478
Non-executive director: ¥uTES:
Li Feng Mao, Chairman FERER
(appointed on 6 November 2015) (R=B-RE+- A BEZHA) - 1528 - 3 1,531
Independent non-executive directors;  BuFHTES
Chan Yee Hoi, Robert ELLE
(resigned on 27 November 2015) (RZF-RET-A-TtAZH) 136 - - - 13
Leung Wing Ning, Chairman DKE T
(resigned on 27 November 2015) (M-E-REt+-A-t+AZE) 13 - - - 1%
Kuwik Sam Aik Bk
(resigned on 27 November 2015) (RZE-RET-A-TtHEH) 13 - - - 13
Leung Po Hon 28
(appointed on 6 November 2015) (R=E-RE+-A~REZR) 61 - - - 61
LilingBo FER
(appointed on 6 November 2015) (R=B-RET-ABEZHA) 55 - - - 55
Shigeki Tanaka b2
(appainted on 6 November 2015) (RZZF-RFT-ARBEZRA) 55 - - - 55
5719 - - - 519
579 7071 1,890 48 9,588
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— X F+_A=+—HIFE

82

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

During the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors of the
Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Company or as compensation for loss of office. There was no
arrangement under which a director has waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments during the years ended 31 December
2016 and 2015.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the directors held
share options under the Company’s share options scheme.
The details of the share options are disclosed under the
paragraph “Share Option Scheme” in the Directors’ Report and
note 23.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included four
directors (2015 two directors), details of whose emoluments
are disclosed in note 8. Details of the emoluments for the year
of the remaining one (2015: three) highest paid employee is as
follows:

8.

EEME (R
RBE-T-—AFR-FT—AF+-A

=t+—BLFE  AEEHERARREM
BEEXNME ARSI REMBARBHIER
MARE RS HERAHE - REE_FT K
FR-B-AF+-_A=+—BILFE #
BRI T BB E RN R B D (AT B

N
& e

BE_Z-RF+-_A=+—HILFE &
ERAARRRIBBRER ST 2 BRE - Bk
BZABREFTEREZ [BREE] —
BRI R MY 5 23 BB

TEmEHMzES

NENTERSHIZER  OENEES
(“F—1%: MEEE) HHFMRHES
PRE - REARB—A(CF-AF: =
2) 2 BEFHEE ZMEHENT -

2016 2015

—E—REF —E—hF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FiET

Salaries and other emoluments e K H b B 1,002 7,680
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAT = 1,750
Retirement scheme contributions IRIRET IR 19 50
1,021 9,480
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Notes to the Financial Statements
g% Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. IEBREFMzES (&)
(CONTINUED)
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest et TSHErZaTMES (EESES
paid employees whose emoluments fell within the following EFTHRE)SBEMT

bands are as follows:

2016 2015
—~E —E—RF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE ANEL
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 77T 2 1,500,000 7 7T 1 -
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7% 7T = 3,000,000 4 7T -
HK$3,500,001-HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 % 7T = 4,000,000 47T = 1
1 3
10. LOSS PER SHARE 10. BREE
(a) Basic loss per share (a) BREXREE
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss BREREEBIIBREBEFALRN IR
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of B AFE(LETE 43,947,000 T (—Z &8 — ji
HK$43,947,000 (2015: HK$26,469,000) and the weighted F 26,469,000 7T) REFEANDETL A
average number of approximately 2,819,102,000 (2015: R& 2 DNk Sy gy 2,819,102,000Hx(f S
2,665,825,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year. — R 1 2,665,825,000 %) BRHEHE o
(b) Diluted loss per share (b)EREEEE
Diluted loss per share is same as basic loss per share as HE_Z2—XXF+_A=+—81IF
the Company does not have dilutive potential ordinary B AR Rz BREEEEEFGRER
shares for the year ended 31 December 2016. E51EMER - BAAKNQ R EEE BT
ik -
The calculation of diluted loss per share for the year ended BE-_ZET-—AFEt+-B=+—HIFE
31 December 2015 does not assume the exercise of the Hx}%&,@;’g‘g}gzp+§1[T{Ej B WNEIIG)
Company’s outstanding share options as the exercise of RITHBEIREETE - RN TERE
the share options would result in a decrease in loss per RS (F B RR IR R D ©
share.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— X F+_A=+—HIFE

11.

84

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by business lines (products and services). In a
manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group
has presented the following reportable segments. The Group
commenced the graphene manufacturing business during the
year ended 31 December 2016 and this was a new operating
segment of the Group. The Company’s directors are of the
opinion that graphene manufacturing business will provide
good opportunities for the Group to diversify and enhance the
Group's revenue stream. No operating segments have been
aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

— Property development: this segment develops and sells the
Group's properties.

- Money lending: this segment provides loan financing to
corporate entities and individuals.

— Horticultural services: this segment provides horticultural
services.

— Graphene manufacturing: this segment manufactures and
sells graphene and graphene related products.

— Property management and other related services: this
segment mainly provides building management services.

— Securities trading: this segment engages in the trading of
securities.

China Graphene Group Limited ¢ FEIFAEEERAT

11.

7 JE R

AEBBRAIFRD RS D EREER  &FD
B REB R (EmMIRSS) 810 - RIRER
BROBEMERFERAARRRITERANE
BEEERRENLEREN T A 27
X AEER2IUTE/OHA-BE_T
—RNFTZA=+—HIEFEHR  AEH
RInIE EABMRIERS - ZXHIAKHE
HMEOEENE - ARAEERS  AEWHH
EXBRRARERREERE  FRAKR
REZ TR R - WESEMLEN TR
BETABRIAT 22RO -

- MEBR: ZOBEBERLHEEAEEY
=,

- BEXB: ZoBERAREREEAAR
HER -
- BEBRYG : 20 BRHEZERY

- REREE  ZOBLEENRELLRG
RAEGHEBER °

- YEERRHEAMBRBRE
REETERRS -
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11. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Company’s
executive directors monitor the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following
bases:

Segment assets include all tangible and current assets with
the exception of available-for-sale financial assets, deferred
tax assets and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities
include trade creditors, accruals and other payables
attributable to the activities of the individual segments and
managed directly by the segments.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or
amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “adjusted
EBITDA” i.e., "adjusted earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation”, where “interest” is
regarded as including bank interest income and investment
income and “depreciation and amortisation” is regarded as
including impairment losses on non-current assets. To
arrive at adjusted EBITDA the Group's earnings are further
adjusted for items not specifically attributed to individual
segments, such as auditor’'s remuneration and other
corporate administration costs.

Notes to the Financial Statements
g% Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

1. 2EHH ()
(@ DEXE EERAE

R A D BRBELR D BE S EEERMN
FOARBRTEETRATEMEES
BEDHEIGZEE  BERAE:

DREEBRRMBANRRBEE  1F
AHHESHEE REHBAEERE
ARBERI - D ERABEREER D
B bR ZERNESFR B E
REEMENEE BE2BEERE
B R AR RERR

W kX RS EZE I BELZH
ERNMAX (RFEN BRI 2 ITE
BEEEZRASXHINAEEREDHR

ARERSBEEMN A EZRIKERAR
EBITDA] - BN [#0BRFI B ~ Bi1E - ITER
BRI 2 ISHABREF ] ER[FE] B
BIRITHBERAREEWAM[ITER
B PEIFERDEEZREEE B
EBUSTIREBITDA - ANEB 2 A F Y
WIEIEEBIER DB 2B fEL i —
THRE WEERZHEA M ARE
MABITERFAS o
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HZE—-Z

11. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

86

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

(continued)

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
adjusted EBITDA, management is provided with segment
information concerning revenue (including inter segment
sales), interest income from cash balances managed
directly by the segments, depreciation and amortisation,
material non-cash items and additions to non-current
segment assets used by the segments in their operations.
Inter-segment sales are priced with reference to prices
charged to external parties for similar orders.

Information regarding the Group's reportable segments as
provided to the Company's executive directors for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance for the years end 31 December 2016
and 2015 is set out below.

—RETZA=T-BLEE

1. 2EHH(H)

(@) 7 EEE

BEERAE(E)

Br Uk 275 B 45 IR EBITDA 2 D S8 &
G BIBEERE A B (BESE
MIHE)  DHEETEZ RS EH
MEWA DERRELERFEFRY
FENEHE EAFRCEERAE
RO BEEEZDRER - DM
HE D2 EIINDA BT ER
EZERMERE -

RBE_ZT—RFR_ZE-—AF+_
A=+ —BHLFEZERD B LT {HE
DERRARNRARATESRM AR
AEEREDFZEMENTX -

2016 —E-RF
Property
management
Property Horticultural Graphene and other Securities
development ~ Money lending services manufacturing related services trading Total
NEERR
NERR REER BERE REREE  HUMBEE #5245 @it
2016 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016
ZE-NE “E-RE ZE-RE ZF-XE ZF-XE ZE-5E ZR-0E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Tén Thn Thn TER iR TR T
Revenue from external customers — RESNEE 2 Ui - 91 4,830 - 121 - 5,442
Inter-segment revenue PERME - - 80 - - - 80
Reportable segment revenue RESENE - 91 4,910 - 121 - 5,522
Reportable segment (ossyproft BENE(BE)/EF
(aojusted EBITDA) (mEREBTDA) (23,526) i (2,025) (5,581) 95 48 (30,498)
Reportable segment assets BRENBEE 251,554 2,344 2,29 49,548 873 581 307,196
Reportable segment liabilties BRESHAE 5,163 = 197 1,059 27 = 6,446
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

11. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

1. 2EHH ()

(@) nEXE BEERAEE)

(continued)
2015 —=_FHE
Property
management
Property Money Horticultural and other Securities
(evelopment lending services  related services trading Total
NELR e BERf  EtEBRE EHR5 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
Thr Thr Thn Fin Tk Thn
Revenue from external customers REHHEP 2R 7,100 81 1,854 175 - 12210
Inter-segment revenue prlile = = 3 - - 3
Reportable segment revenue EABNE 7,100 81 1877 175 - 12233
Reportable segment (loss)/ HESE(BR) /%A
profit (adjusted EBITDA) (fZEBITDA) (18982) 81 353 105 73 (18516)
Reportable segment assets BEAREE 9483 2,081 1458 9% 575 274498
Reportable segment liabilities BEVBEE 4100 - 2% 18 - 4,354

For the year ended 31 December 2016, revenue of
approximately HK$926,000 was derived from a single
external customer who contributed 10% or more of the
total revenue of the Group. This revenue was attributable
to the horticultural services segment.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, revenue of
approximately HK$7,100,000 was derived from a single
external customer who contributed 10% or more of the
total revenue of the Group. This revenue was attributable
to the property development segment.

BHE-_Z-—RF+A=+—-HILF
€ AE-#INEPE S a4 926,000
BT BB PR E BN & B 48 5 10%
FAL - R mBBEZREDE

HEe-_ZT—RAF+_-_A=+—HIHF
E - BHE-—HIEBPEEKZYD
7,100,00087C - ZEFHERAEE LR
Wam10% A £ - ZEHFEBMERE

DR e
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HZE—-Z

11. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

—RNETZA=tT—HIEFE

M. 7 EHR®R(E

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, b FEsBEWEHELR EERASE
profit or loss, assets and liabilities 2 ¥ AR
2016 2015
—E—REF —hEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FiET
Revenue LB'(%'E
Reportable segment revenue EofElEs 5,522 12,233
Elimination of inter-segment revenue %ﬁﬁ"*ﬁ?ﬂuﬁlm (80) (23)
Consolidated revenue AW 5,442 12,210
Profit or loss B&
Reportable segment loss HESEERE (30,498) (18,516)
Elimination of inter-segment profit HEH 5 8 s T (80) (23)
Reportable segment loss derived from REAREBHINEE 2 5RE
the Group's external customers DEEEE (30,578) (18,539)
Other revenue and net income H Atz R I AF 58 5,299 641
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HWH B AR M = 126
Depreciation and amortisation FrEREH (1,176) (146)
Finance costs Eﬁliﬁﬁ$ (1,068) -
Unallocated corporate expenses F N NG -3 (16,424) (8,551)
Consolidated loss before taxation BRELRT AR & B 1R (43,947) (26,469)
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

11. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 1. DERK(E)
(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, b)FEsBEWREHELRZ EERASE
profit or loss, assets and liabilities (continued) Z ¥R (48)
2016 2015
—E—RE —EF-RHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets WEDHEE 307,196 274,498
Available-for-sale financial assets AHHESREE = 6,500
Unallocated corporate assets KABAREE
— Restricted bank deposits - ZRAFIRITIER 8,120 =
- cash and cash equivalents -BekAeEEY 47,145 7,653
— other assets - HMEE 6,290 5,103
Consolidated total assets IRABERE 368,751 293,754
Liabilities =N
Reportable segment liabilities BENEAR 6,446 4,354
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOBRBIES
- Bank loan - RITEK 120,000 -
- Other liabilities -HmafE 10,752 1,114
Consolidated total liabilities =Nk 137,198 5,468
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #HE—T— A "F+_A=+—HILFE

11. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 11. DERR(E)
(c) Other segment information (©) Hfr 5 EE B

2016 .

—= /N

Property
management
and other
Property Money  Horticultural ~ Graphene related  Securities
development lending services - manufacturing services trading  Unallocated Total
NEEER
ES T fREXH BERE  RERYE  HMEBRE #5325 AR a3t

Interest income FISHA

Interest expense GRS

Rental income from meRl BeWA
operating leases

Depreciation and EREH
amortisation

Incorme tax expense b
(Gain on disposal of HE-BHELAN

asubsiciary h&
Addifonstonon-current ERFESEE
segrment asses HEEE
during the year
2015 —T-RF
Property
management
Property Money — Horticultural Graphene and other Securities
(evelopment lending Services  manufacturing  related services trading  Unallocated Total
NEEER
NELRE ES EERE  REREE  EMEERE 15 AR 3t
2015 2015 2015 015 2015 2015 015 015
-1 Z5-RE ZF-RF R R ZE-RE ZE-1E CE-1f
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK§ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thr TAL T TiEn TEr ThAL T TEn
Interest income KA - - - - - - 1 61
Inferest expense HER% - - - - - - - -
Rentalincome from FERMZESMA
0perating leases 6,39 - - - - - - 6,39
Depreciation and FERES
amortisation - = 4 = (15 - (127) (146)

Income tax expense FEREY = = - 3 . _ _ _
(ain on dlsposal of HE-RHEARN

asubsidiary Wi = = = - - - 12 1%
Addtionstonon-current  ERFEFREHE

Segent asses BE

during the year - - 3 - - - 3880 3880

90 China Graphene Group Limited « FEFAEBERAR



Notes to the Financial Statements

B 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

11. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(d) Geographic information
The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group's revenue from
external customers and (ii) the Group’s property, plant and
equipment (“specified non-current assets”). The
geographical location of customers is based on the location

1. 2EHH ()

(d)EER

TR BAONAEEREHINEF 2
et RMAKREDE - BERKRE
((EEFRRBDEE]) ZHEBENEFPH
Ho & TY LA TR AR 75 2 X AN & m O P FE 3
REE - EEFRBDEENLRIIAE

at which the services were provided or the goods were EHEER B AEE o
delivered. The geographical location of the specified non-
current assets is based on the physical location of the
asset.
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
REHIMEF Z = EEFRBEE
2016 2015 2016 2015
—EB—RF —T—hF —E—REF ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FH&T
Hong Kong BB
(place of domicile) (FEfFrTEHD) 5,442 12,210 4,000 4,335
Japan HZ - - 2,630 -
5,442 12,210 6,630 4,335
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— X F+_A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JAZS TaHE)

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12. ¥ - MERRE

Interests in
leasehold
land held
for own Buildings
use under held for own Furniture
finance  use carried and Motor
leases at fair value  equipment Vehicles Total
RRERE
BABER N
BHELTH  FIRZEE
IR BREF BRRRE AE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL FHL AL FHL THL
Cost or valuation: BARMEE
At 1 January 2015 RZE—RF—F—H 970 110 3,208 565 4,853
Additions AE N = 2,348 1,532 3,880
Disposals HeE - - (2,965) - (2,965)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HBEAR (370) (40) - - 410)
Surplus on revaluation EffR#% - 32 - - 32
Less: elimination of accumulated 5 : BT EHH
depreciation - ) - - 3
At 31 December 2015 RZZE—RF
+-A=+—-H 600 99 2,591 2,097 5,387
Representing: HER
Cost N 600 - 2,591 2,097 5,288
Valuation - 2015 fE-—E—hF - 9 - - 99
600 99 2,591 2,097 5,387
At 1 January 2016 R=F—~F—H—H 600 99 2,591 2,097 5,387
Additions RE = = 718 3,075 3,793
Disposals e = = - (260) (260)
Surplus on revaluation BhA% - 1 - - 1
Exchange alignment R = = = (324) (324)
Less: elimination of accumulated i : 2B EL
depreciation - (3) - - (3)
At 31 December 2016 RZZ—RF
+-A=+-H 600 97 3,309 4,588 8,594
Representing: HER
Cost XA 600 = 3,309 4,588 8,497
Valuation - 2016 BE-ZF—X - 97 - - 97
600 97 3,309 4,588 8,594
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (ASTTaHE)

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. Y% - BWERRE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Interests in
leasehold
land held
for own Buildings
use under held for own Furniture
finance use carried and Motor
leases at fair value  equipment Vehicles Total
RRERE
BHEfEe NAFE
PHELTH  FIRZEE
ZREH BRBF BRRRE AE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT THT TET THT
Accumulated amortisation 2 BERAE
and depreciation;
At 1 January 2015 RZE-1%—A—H 262 - 3,081 565 3,908
Charge for the year KEESH 21 5 120 - 146
Written back on disposals HEZRED - - (2.957) - (2,957)
Written back on disposal of HE—HRBARRER
a subsidiary (40) 2 = = (42)
Elimination on revaluation B - @A) S - (€]
At 31 December 2015 RZZE—h#F
+=ZA=+—H 243 - 244 565 1,052
At 1 January 2016 RZE—~F-H—H 243 = 244 565 1,052
Charge for the year AFEESH 12 732 429 1,176
Written back on disposals HEBEM - - - (260) (260)
Exchange alignment R = = = (1) (1)
Elimination on revaluation BHEH B - 3) - = 3)
At 31 December 2016 NZE—REF
+-A=+-H 255 - 976 733 1,964
Carrying amount: AR E -
At 31 December 2016 RZE—RF
+-A=+—-H 345 97 2,333 3,855 6,630
At 31 December 2015 RZE—1F
+-A=+—-H 357 99 2,347 1,532 4,335
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— X F+_A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA/BTTaHE)

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. Y% - WERRE (&)

(CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2016, the leasehold land of HK$345,000 and
buildings of HK$97,000 were pledged for the bank facilities
granted to the Group, details of which are set out in note 21 to
the financial statements.

The revaluation surplus of HK$1,000 (2015: HK$32,000) has
been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
to reverse a revaluation deficit of the same asset previously
recognised in profit in profit or loss. Had these buildings held
for own use been carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation, the carrying amounts would have been
HK$356,000 (2015: HK$375,000).

Revaluation of buildings held for own use

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, buildings were revalued
based on net replacement cost by an independent valuer. The
following table presents the fair value of the Group's properties
measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring
basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy as
defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into
which a fair value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the inputs
used in the valuation technique as follows:

. Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level
1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1,
and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data
are not available

° Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs
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Notes to the Financial Statements
g% Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (ASTTaHE)

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. Y% - BMERZXE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Revaluation of buildings held for own use BIEERBF2EM (&)
(continued)
(a) Fair value hierarchy (@) XA FEZEL

Fair value measurements categorised into

TR B2 AFEFE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
F1R F24K B3R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT FET
Recurring fair value REMATETE
measurement
Buildings held for own use: #H{EBBEF .
- Industrial — Hong Kong -TE—FF
As at 31 December 2016 R-B—XRE+-A=+—H - - 97
As at 31 December 2015 RZE—RF+=-_A=1+—H - - 99
During the year ended 31 December 2016, there were no REBEE_ZE—XR"F+_A=+—HIHF
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or B B1RRE2G B meEi - Jrik
out of Level 3 (2015: Nil). The Group's policy is to recognise meE Al HEIR(ZE—RHFE:M|E) o
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the NEBKRE S EMERAN S| BERE 5
date of the event or change in circumstances that caused EREEEE) A FTESERME 2
the transfer. R o
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g% L R

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HZE—-Z

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

12.

96

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Revaluation of buildings held for own use
(continued)
(b) Movements during the year in the balance of these

—RETZA=T-BLEE

12. 1% - BERRE (&)

FEBREFZEM (8)

(b) FAZEEIRAFHEBLEHEE

Level 3 fair value measurement

Buildings held for
own use in Hong Kong

BIEEREF-BS
2016 2015
—~E —F—RHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 January ®n—AH—H 99 110
Depreciation charge for the year FEWERR (3) (6)
Surplus on revaluation BHAR 1 32
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—ENEB AT = (38)
At 31 December Rt+—-—A=+—H 97 99

Revaluation surplus of HK$1,000 (2015: HK$32,000) was
included in the line item of “other net income” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss to reverse a
revaluation deficit of the same asset previously recognised
in profit or loss.

(c) Valuation processes of the Group

The Group'’s buildings were revalued at 31 December 2016
and 2015 by DTZ Cushman & Wakefield Limited ("DTZ"). DTZ
is an independent firm of chartered surveyors and has
among its staff members of the Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors with recent experience in the location and
category of property being valued. For the buildings, their
current use equates to the highest and best use.

The Group’s finance department considers and discusses
the valuations performed by the independent valuer for
financial reporting purposes, including all key inputs to the
valuations and property valuations movements as
compared to the prior year valuation report.

China Graphene Group Limited  FEGEAREEERAT
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (ASTTaHE)

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

Revaluation of buildings held for own use

(continued)
(d) Valuation techniques

12. Y% - BERRE (&)

FEBREFZEM (8)

(d) 1EEH M

The valuation was determined based on the net replacement
cost with reference to the current cost of replacing an asset
with its modern equivalent asset with deductions of physical
deterioration, relevant forms of obsolescence and age of
asset. These inputs include:

Cost of construction

Cost per square feet to completion was estimated based
on the type of building structure and taking into account
market data on current construction costs for similar
properties.

Estimated depreciation

Deducting all sources of depreciation by straight-line
method over the estimated useful life, including physical
deterioration and functional and economic obsolescence
and adjusting by the physical condition of the building.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during
the year.

(e) Information about fair value measurements using

significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

HMELSEEE-HEELURRZE
BEEEMREEZBANAA  REKRE
REMEHATYAZREREESFK

RNEEERAETE - 2FHABEEE

B
REMZ ARG EZEN SRR R
At IR RN AR T IS B8R - Mibs

T IR AERAE -
st i

METERAEREBETERG A&
RERRIRERRHITE - BEER
BREMINRE M A E VR - XIRE
FERRAMELAE -

FRGERMLEEE -

(e) EHA-FEGNEFEFEAT JBEEH

ABE (E3IR) 2EH

Valuation Unobservable Relationship of unobservable

Description technique input inputs to fair value

TABERABEY
it fRE R TABERAHE AFENER
Buildings Based on net Cost of construction of The higher the estimated cost

replacement cost HK$1,036 (2015: HK$938) per square feet to
per square feet completion, the
higher the fair value

BF ERFTESERR BRMARBETTHR036BT SFEAREXMBEAALS

—T—hF938BT)

Estimated depreciation over
the useful life of 58 years
(2015: 58 years)

EAERAFEN R T N\F
(ZE—R2F A+ N\F)
hEHTE

ATELS

The higher the estimated
depreciation, the lower the
fair value

mEHTERS - A TFEBE
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B 75 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— X F+_A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA/BTTaHE)

13. SUBSIDIARIES

13. B L E

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinions of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

TRERHEE

BEREARERE  BESLR

BB ARZER - BHIREALKE QA

ZHE EERRG

SHEBERERTIE -

length.
Proportion of
ownership interests
held by the Company
KRR R
HEERRLH
Place of Particulars
incorporation of issued and
Name of company and operation paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activity
R R ERITRAR
NE BB B RS HE BE IEBER
Century Elegant Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share - 100%  Provision of property
HEMBRAF] B 1B management services
RUEMEEERS
Cheung Kee Garden Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares and 450,000 - 100%  Investment holding
RecEEARAA] B non-voting deferred shares and provision of
100 % 3 3 A% K2 450,000 i horticultural services
BRERELTR BREERREHER
R
Donwin Property Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares = 100%  Property holding
REEEBRAA o 2L AR MERE
Fort Property Management Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares - 100%  Provision of management
Limited BE 2E B services
BREYEETEFRNA REEERY
Sui Chong Finance Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares - 100%  Provision of financing
maMBERRR 5 208 A% and management
services, money
lending and trading
of securities
RURE R EERY
BEEBRESFR S
Sui Chong International Hong Kong 1,000 ordinary shares - 100%  Provision of property
Resources Limited B8 1,000 A% & @ A% management and
HEBBERER AT project management
services
REMEEERIBEE
BIR% %
Super Homes Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares and 100 - 100%  Property development
BE non-voting deferred shares MEERE

100 i & 38 AR K% 100 A% AR R 4
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (ASTTaHE)

13. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 13. 7 (&)

Proportion of
ownership interests
held by the Company

NG iESd
HEERRLLA

Place of Particulars
incorporation of issued and
Name of company and operation paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activity
R R ERITRAR
NEEB B RAZEE HE BiE IEER
China Graphene Holdings British Virgin 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% - Investment Holding
Limited (formerly known as Islands SRMEE1E7T 21008 E Bk BEER
Winfoong Assets Limited) RBE LIRS
Al Winfoong Assets
Limited
WI Capital Co., Limited Japan Japanese Yen 800 million = 100%  Investment Holding
("WI Capital”) =N 800,000,000 A REER
WI Graphene Co., Limited Japan Japanese Yen 380 million = 100%  Manufacturing and
("WI Graphene”) =P 380,000,000 H sale of graphene

On 15 September 2016, the Group entered into a shareholder
agreement (the “Shareholder Agreement”) with Graphene
Platform Corporation (“GP") pursuant to which both parties
agreed to form a joint venture for manufacturing of graphene
and related products in Japan. The joint venture namely Wi
Graphene Co., Limited was formed on 24 October 2016.
According to the Shareholder Agreement, the Group and GP
shall own 80% and 20% equity interest of WI Graphene
respectively and the Group shall make its capital contribution
by cash and GP shall make its capital contribution by way of
granting WI Graphene the right of using certain patents. Given
that the Group is able to control the joint venture, the joint
venture has been classified as a subsidiary of the Group. As at
31 December 2016, the Group has paid its capital contribution
of Japanese Yen 380 million in cash which represented the
entire 100% paid up and issued capital of WI Graphene. On 13
January 2017, WI Graphene and GP signed a license agreement
pursuant to which GP granted WI Graphene the right for using
of certain patents. Up to the date of approval of these financial
statements, the procedures for allotment of shares to GP
according to the Japanese Companies Act are still in progress
i.e., preparing and filing the valuation report of the right of
using the patents to Legal Affair Bureau in Japan. Upon
completion of the procedures, WI Graphene would allot new
shares to GP and GP would own 20% equity interest of Wi
Graphene.

and graphene

related products
SERHEERERR

ARGEHEEER

RZE-—R"FALA+HERB ~A&EEHE
Graphene Platform Corporation ([GP ) 5] 32
IR ek ([ IRER e ]) - Bt - FTROE SR
ERLRAAREARGERABERNEE
™ ¥ & & 1 %( BIw Graphene Co.,
Limited) " =F—R"F+HAZTUHMKT °
BERRIGB®E  ~EBRGPHDRIZEE W
Graphene 2 80% . 20% % # - K 7 & B #%
PAIR &5 & & GP 8B M W Graphene £ i
ETEMEREZ FEE - EEFAER
IR EERE  AEPELEAREEM
BRRl - RZE—R"F+ZA=+—H =&
% B B2 AR & 8 H JE & (380,000,000 H
7T) A E A WI Graphene & 25 100% 2 &1 &2
BEIERN - R_ZE—+F—HA+=H W
Graphene BiGP % 7 #F &7 1 i » 1R LLGP ™
WI Graphene % H & TEFIFE A - HE%
ZWBMERIEBDR - MIGPERER N 212
FriREE AR BANEETH (BHEEIL W
BAZHBE FEBE TEFNENNEE
WMETUER) THEBEFE W
Graphene # B2 3% ¥7 I (9 RGP #% # B W
Graphene 2 20% P 1 -
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B 75 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— X F+_A=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

14. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

14. THHEESHEE

2016 2015
—B-X& _—T-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Unlisted debt securities at fair value BRATERLELTEEES = 6,500
15. TRADING SECURITIES 15. RS EFSH
2016 2015
—E—RE —EF-HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Listed equity securities at fair value ERAES (RAFE)
- in Hong Kong - &% 581 548
16. INVENTORIES 16. ZE&
2016 2015
—E—RE ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Horticultural plants HE2=R7) 431 448
Completed properties held for sale BEIELETIME 248,319 244,363
248,750 244,811
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an BREAXZEFESBESTOT
expense is as follows:
2016 2015
—F—AX"% —TILF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Completed properties held for sale HEHETIWE - 4,811
Horticultural plants EZEEY 894 800
894 5,611

As at 31 December 2016, the completed properties held for
sale of HK$248,319,000 were pledged for banking facilities
granted to the Group, details of which are set out in note 21 of

the financial statements.
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B 755 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (ASTTaHE)

17. LOAN RECEIVABLES 17. EIWERERR
2016 2015
=&E= —T—FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT
Balance due within one year —FREIHERIE 2,344 22,081

Loan receivables as at 31 December 2016 represents
receivables arising from money lending business of the Group,

and bear interests at the rate of 6.0% per annum.

Loan receivable as at 31 December 2015 represents receivable
arising from money lending business of the Group, and bears
interests at the rate of 4.7% per annum and is fully secured by

a personal guarantee of an independent third party.

The grant of the loans were approved and monitored by the
Group's management. No provision for impairment on loan
receivables was made as at 31 December 2016 and 2015.

An aged analysis of the loan receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the payment due date, is as follows:

R_E—RNF+-AZ+—BZRKERIE
$E@%%¥%EEZ%WTE BEF R
6.0% 5T 8. °

R-B-—AF+-A=+—HOEKERE
BAKBEEEEBELNEKGRIA - 124.7%
MENXF R MBBLE =Rt TENE
ATEREITIA

S B B T AR S [ R B L L BE AR, o
EAZZE?‘*/\fEZQ__EE AE+-A=+—
 BERRKETIERERE -

PR BRI FR B B M fE U B SR A BR 8%
DWW

2016 2015

—~E —E-HF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET Fi&T

Neither past due nor impaired I 4 50 BRSO (E 2,344 22,081

Loan receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to debtors for whom there was no recent history of

default.

3 48 38 B sl Rl B 2 M W B 7 BT A X R R

ez EBAER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— X F+_A=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA/BTTaHE)

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

18. ESZ R EMEWRIE

2016 2015

—T-—AF ~—ThOF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTERT FH&T

Trade debtors FEUE 2 BRFK 1,064 749
Escrow money receivable (note i) FEUEEE & (B aE i) 20,351 -
Other debtors Hoh fEUR AR IR 1,246 1,016
Loans and receivables BER R ERIRIA 22,661 1,765
Rental and other deposits e kEMIZE 1,499 1,433
Prepayments SEENE QI 2,579 1,263
26,739 4,461

102

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered or
recognised as expense within one year.

Escrow money receivable

0On 19 September 2016, WI Capital entered into an escrow agreement
with GP pursuant to which WI Capital paid escrow money of Japanese
Yen 300 million (equivalent to HK$20,351,000) to an escrow agent for
intention of purchasing of a production line from GP by WI Graphene. On
13 January 2017, WI Graphene entered into an agreement with GP to
purchase the production line at Japanese Yen 700 million (equivalent to
HK$ 47,500,000). Pursuant to the escrow agreement, the escrow money
shall be released accordingly upon the signing of purchase agreement.
As mentioned in note 13 to the financial statements, GP already granted
the right of using the patents on 13 January 2017 to WI Graphene but the
allotment of new shares by WI Graphene to GP is still in progress, to
safeguard GP's interest, the Group therefore agreed to extend the release
of escrow money to a later day until the completion of valuation of the
right of using the patents and submission of the valuation report to the
Legal Affairs Bureau in Japan for share allotment purpose.

China Graphene Group Limited ¢ FEIFAEEERAT

FiBE S REAMEEIRE - TRHBR —F Rk

fEUFEE &

R=ZZT—XENA+H W Capital E2 GP 5] 32
SEE W 0 5 1tk WI Capital 5t WI Graphene ##[7 GP
BE—EERMA—EXTEREIMNTES
300,000,000 B 7t (8% # 20,351,000 7T) ° A=
T—+&F—HF+=H Wl Graphene £GP T 32
&%+ BA1% 700,000,000 B 7T (48 & 7 47,500,000 7%
T)RELAER - REXTEHSE ZBEZH=
% TS BIRULER - B BREM 13T
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (ASTTaHE)

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Ageing analysis
Included in trade and other receivables are trade debtors
with the following ageing analysis based on the invoice
date, as of the end of the reporting period:

18.

B 5 K Eib U ARE ()

(@) BR#R 2 AT
RESREMBWIRIERN  BIKE 5K
H HREEHHERNBRERRZERY
MranF

2016 2015

—E—RE —E—0F

HK$'000 HK$'000

F&ET FETT

Within 1 month —@AMNUT 482 619
After 1 month but within 3 months —Z==1@A 348 123
Over 3 months HBiE =18 A 234 7
1,064 749

The Group's credit policy is set out in note 26(a) to the
financial statements.

(b) Impairment of trade debtors
During the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, there
was no impairment loss made against the trade
receivables.

KEBZEEBRERE N EHREM T
26(a) °

(b) EW B 5 BR1E Z B (B
HE-_Z—R"EFkZF—R2F+=H
=+ HIEFE UEELERESE
TEREEIE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— X F+_A=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA/BTTaHE)

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

(c) Trade debtors that are not impaired

18. EZ K EMEWRIE ()

The ageing analysis of the trade debtors that are neither
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired,

based on due date, are as follows:

(c) RFimEZEKE Z IRIA

BRI R HRBSTTREZEEE SR
BERIERAME 2 REDTAOT

2016 2015

—E-RE —E—HF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTEx FAT

Neither past due nor impaired B R HA TN AR E 482 619
Less than 1 month past due BRAR@ AT ARRE 252 101
More than 1 month past due BN —EA 330 29
__________________________________________________________________________________________ . 0
1,064 749

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a number of independent customers for whom there

was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management believes that no impairment allowance is
necessary in respect of these balances as there has not
been a significant change in credit quality and the balances

are still considered fully recoverable.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (ASTTaHE)

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 19. BERBASEEY
2016 2015
—E—REF ZE—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Deposits with banks and other financial TR RTT B E A & R A%
institutions ZTFER 83,702 10,991
Cash on hand FHEERESE 5 27
83,707 11,018
Less: Restricted bank deposits (note 21) IR - ZBRBIRI TR AR (FIRE21) (8,120) -
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated #R& B EIRERER L
statements of financial position and ReRReEEY
cash flows 75,587 11,018
At 31 December 2016, bank balances carried interest at market R-ZE—RNE+ZA=1+—BZRITHERIE
rates which range from 0% to 0.01% (2015: range from 0% to BENTF0%ZE001%(=Z—RHF : N TF0%
0.02%) per annum. £0.02%) 2 TG FEFTE o
As at 31 December 2016, the bank deposits of HK$8,120,000 R-ZE—XRF+_A=+—8 - 8,120,000/5
were pledged for bank loan, details of which out set out in note TTHRITHERERBITEREER - FEH
21 to the financial statements. R TS ERT I FE21 o
20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20. EZ R HMEMRE
2016 2015
—E—REF —E—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET Fi&T
Trade creditors B E S IREE 605 317
Other payables and accrued charges E R ARIA R BRI X 7,321 4,977
Amount due to a director (note 28(c)) JEfT— %2 A (M 5E28(0) 9,150 -
Financial liabilities measured REEN AR 2 2B AE
at amortised cost 17,076 5,294
Receipt-in-advance TRV = 122 174
17,198 5,468
All of the trade and other payables, apart from the retentions B ERHMREBZIENN TR 5 R E M ENE
payable, are expected to be settled within one year or are HIEFTR —F RN HIREKERER -

repayable on demand.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— X F+_A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA TEHE)

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
(CONTINUED)

20. E5 RHEMEMRE (&)

As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of the
trade creditors based on the date of receipt of goods/ services

RBERR BNEZERAEENKDRE
i/ RS B EZ BRI T -

is as follows:
2016 2015
—B-—X& —T-AF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&ET FET
Within 1 month —EALT 605 10
After 1 month but within 3 months —@ERAEETBGE=(EA = 150
Over 6 months HBid7~E A - 157
605 317

21. BANK LOAN 21. SRITER

2016 2015
— X" —TIF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&ET FETT
Bank loan, secured RITE - HIEA 120,000 -

The bank loan is classified as current liabilities as it contains a
repayment on demand clause. According to the repayment

HRBITERBAEEELIGER WO BR
WEBAE - RBEERMEX  RITEBEEKR

schedule, the bank loan is repayable as follow: AT HAR B E -
2016 2015
—T—x"F —T-AOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Within 1 year TR - =
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFA 120,000 -
120,000 -

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group obtained
the bank loan from a bank and the Group was able to meet all
the financial covenants under the banking facilities.

BE-Z-AET=A=T—ALEE &
5.8 & — PR T IS R(T R R A K B AL
R RITERTAARBERY -

The bank loan is carried at amortised cost and at the interest
rate of 2% per annum over one-month HIBOR or 2% per annum
below HKD Prime Rate, whichever is lower.

RITEFIRBIERATIRLIZ—EABER
TR EIN2% 2 F R RSB T HEFI R
2% 2 FRIE (AREERE)FTE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (ASTTaHE)

21.

22.

23.

BANK LOAN (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2016, the bank loan is secured by (i) the
Group's completed properties held for sale of HK$248,319,000
as disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements, (ii) the land
and buildings of HK$442,000 as disclosed in note 12 to the
financial statements, (iii) assignment of rental income from
completed properties held for sale and (iv) bank deposits of
HK$8,120,000 as disclosed in note 19 to the financial
Statements.

DEFERRED TAXATION

(a) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised:
The Group had no material unprovided deferred tax
liabilities as at 31 December 2016 and 2015.

(b) Deferred tax assets not recognised

At 31 December 2016, the Group has not recognised
deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of
HK$385,579,000 (2015: HK$344,296,000) as it is not probable
that future taxable profits against which the tax losses can
be utilised will be available in the relevant taxation authority
and the relevant entity. The tax losses of HK$379,876,000
(2015: HK$344,296,000) that are available for offsetting
against future profits do not expire under current tax
legislation. The tax loss of HK$5,703,000 (2015: HK$ Nil)
attributable to the continuing operations in Japan are
available for offsetting against future profits that may be
carried forward for nine years for Japan income tax
purpose.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted
on 25 June 2013 whereby the directors of the Company are
authorised, at their discretion, to invite eligible participants
including the directors or any employee (whether full time or
part time) of the Group or an affiliate and any consultant,
agent, or advisor of the Group or an affiliate, to take up options
at $1 consideration for each acceptance. The options vest from
the date of grant and are then exercisable within a period of
ten years. Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe
for one ordinary share in the Company and is settled gross in
shares.

21.

22.

23.

RITER (B

R-ZZT—RF+-A=+—08 BI7EXA
THNEBIEEI () B HE R FT5E 16 TR TR 15
EH & 2 ANEE B 52K ) % 248,319,0007%8
JC (BTSSR R BISE12FT I 88 L3 R ig =7
442,000 7 -+ (i EFFEREEZK Y E
R E WA K (iv) $R 7713 5% 8,120,000 %8 7T (40
ISR ER 19 FTIREE) -

IEFER IH

(@) REMRAZIBELEBHERE :
AEER-ZFE-—REFR-_T-—RF+=
A=+ - B EEARERENECE
FERIARE -

(b) REBRAZELEHIBEEE
R-ZT—REF+-_A=+—8 K&£E
I 4% 3£ 385,579,000 T ( —Z & — A F -
344,296,000 70 ) 2 2 RIBEEER
BERIBEEE  AABBE B HEL
TR KA g E A R RERT R F
LAMETRIB BB K8 2 A - iRIBIRITRHS
ER BN BERE IO A R TBIE
&5 #8379,876,000% ;L ( = & — A F :
344,296,000 7T ) I A B 8f - B 1E K 8
15 3 F B B B A4S B S XS HB
THE 185,703,000 (= E—HF : &
BIT) - A BLEAFSTAEEIF -

URORERCESEERS

ARBR -_E—=FXA-_THHARRK A
BRESTE Bt ARRIEFERERE
BBERER2EE  BREAKENMEAT
By MER (BEmEBEGRE) A RAE
BB A R RE R - I AR
Mmz RERBERE - BRENEHA
HIRBY N+ FAMERTE - SHERE
BT RAEAENZBARR—HEBREE
BUARBR DR ARRR S -
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23. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a) The terms and conditions of the grants are as

—RETZA=T-BLEE

23. LR AERCEEEERS

(&)

(@) REFRA R ARG WE

follows:
Number of  Vesting Contractual life
instruments  conditions of options
THEZHE BEERY BRESOHIR
Options granted to directors:
BTEs s BRE:
—o0n 18 December 2013 80,100,000 Immediate vest 10 years
-RZE-—=F+=-A+//\RH SANEE T
Options granted to eligible employees:
RTEaEBE L2 BIRE
—on 18 December 2013 108,300,000 Immediate vest 10 years
-RZE—=F+_A+//\H S RNER S +4F
Total share options granted 188,400,000

BB AR

(b) The number and weighted average exercise
prices of share options are as follows:

(b) B ERE R mMEF I TEENE :

2016 2015
—E—REF —E—HF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price of options
fnfE B hnE AR
FITEE EEE FHIEE HEE
HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000 ‘000
FTERT T 45 FHIT Fa
Outstanding at the beginning of FEYEARITIE
the year - - 0.1168 183,300
Exercised during the year FALITHE - - 0.1168 (183,300)
Outstanding at the end of the year 48 K771 = - - -
Exercisable at the end of the year 4L A 17{# - - - -
The weighted average share price at the date of exercise REE-ZZT—AF+-A=+—HI1tHF
for share options exercised during the year ended 31 E ECTT{%EHEE%H@E B HA 2 hnsE ¢
December 2015 was HK$0.5020. HR% B 0.5020 8 7T -
There were no options outstanding at 31 December 2016 RZE-—RFRZZF-—HFE+ZA
and 2015. =+—B  BERARITEBRE -
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24. SHARE CAPITAL 24. B
2016 2015
—E-REF —ET—RF
Number Nominal Number Nominal
of shares value of shares value
gne ¢E| H{E f&1nEk B H{E
‘000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000
TR FET T FET
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares of FIEE.05E T2
HK$0.05 each TR
At 1 January w—H—H 3,000,000 150,000 3,000,000 150,000
Increase on 27 May 2016 R-TE—RE
(note i) TFA=-++tH
30 (M EED 17,000,000 850,000 - -
At 31 December Rt+-—A=+—H 20,000,000 1,000,000 3,000,000 150,000
ordinary shares, issued ZER BRTR
and fully paid: o G
At 1 January w—H—H 2,819,102 140,955 2,635,802 131,790
Share issued under BARERTE T 2
share option scheme BEITRGN
(note ii) CEEaD) - - 183,300 9,165
At 31 December W+—A=+—8 2,819,102 140,955 2,819,102 140,955
Note: BiaE -
(i) 0On 27 May 2016, the Company passed an ordinary resolution pursuant to (i) RZZE—AFRA=-++LAH  AARBB—BY

which the authorised share capital of the Company was increased by
HK$850,000,000 by the creation of 17,000,000,000 shares of par value of
HK$0.05 each.

(if) During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company issued
183,300,000 ordinary shares at a price of HK$0.1168 per share upon the
exercise of share options.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally with regard to the Company's residual assets.

BRFESR - R AR EREE RS REE0.05
7% 7T #17,000,000,000 & S £7) » #5 7E A A 38
850,000,000 7T ©

(ii) RZE—hF+ZA=+—BIFEHRB AR
RITTEBE AR AE « I B 317 iR A% 183,300,000 % -
FRAE 011688 T °

ERRFEANERERTEERZBE - B

EAATGE L ERATE-FERERE - A
AR AT TN EE T A S -
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25. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

26.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity and market risk (including foreign
exchange risk, price risk and interest rate risk) arises in the
normal course of the Group’s business. The Group’s exposure
to these risks and the financial management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks are
described below.

(a) Credit risk

110

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to loan
receivable, trade and other receivables and cash at banks.
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In order to minimise the credit risk on loan receivable, the
Group has credit policy on credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of the debt at the end of
the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

In respect of trade and other receivables, credit evaluations
are performed on all customers requiring credit over a
certain amount. The Group grants a credit period of not
more than 30 days from the date of billing. Debtors with
balances that are more than 3 months overdue are
requested to settle all outstanding balances before any
further credit is granted. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from customers.

China Graphene Group Limited  FEGEAREEERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA &)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26. €@iTEvSRMEREER A ¥
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS B (&)
(CONTINUED)

(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EERE B (&)

In respect of cash at bank, the Group limit its exposure to
credit risk by placing deposits with financial institutions that
meet the established credit rating. Given these high credit
standing, the management does not expect any
counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

The Group'’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each debtor rather than the
industry or country in which debtors operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when
the Group has significant exposure to individual debtors. As
at 31 December 2016, the Group had concentration of
credit risk in respect of escrow money receivable of
HK$20,351,000. Taking into account of the credit worthiness
of the counterparty, there was no impairment recognised.
In the opinion of the Company's directors, the risk of non-
recoverability of the carrying amount is minimal. Other than
this, the Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had concentration of
credit risk in respect of loan receivable of HK$22,081,000.
Taking into consideration of the personal guarantee on
entire outstanding balance provided to the Group and the
financial information of the counterparty, there was no
impairment recognised. In the opinion of the Company’s
directors, the risk of non-recoverability of the carrying
amount is minimal. Other than this, the Group has no
significant concentration of credit risk.

The Group do not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from loan receivable and
trade and other receivables are set out in notes 17 and 18
respectively.

RIBITREME - AEEZEEREDR
FEEFFRN S REETKARGIERE
ERf - ERZETEREBEENRIE
R ERERYRS I EERTHEE -

AEEEH 2 EERRIBEZEEHA
Z (@545 Iiﬁﬁiﬂfﬁ ?%*éﬁfrﬁﬁ%ﬁi
BRATE AREXEFEERRT
ERAKERERNESABERERE
HBR -R-T—R"FE+-_A=+—8"
$$.E‘Ljﬁf§”ﬁ§%%’%2035'l 0007& 7T th
BETEERR KEEUFITNEER
CE I#ﬁﬁﬁmﬂfﬁ ARAEEFER
A BREETREE A EREH - kit
29 REBFEERBRBESEATHEE
3

R-ZE—AF+-A=+—H A&E
6 748 FE W & 5% 22,081,000 ST £ S
ZEERR - KEZBRETAEEERES
REEERZBEAERERZEFH 2
MBEREL  FARBEIAMNE - AR
BEERA REETAKE HERERE
o BRULIASN  AEBES BB AREFE
B

& ljfﬂﬂ%f EATFER T EE A K

RAZIEER

ERASERERERLE S REMIE
WHREBEMELZEERRZE-—TEE
WRERDBIFERHEE7 218 -
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26. €@iTEvSRMEREER A ¥

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Liquidity risk
Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including the
short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of

8 (&)

(b) RBE =R

AEE R E 7
2HReERE -
H®E R

=
=

@ AKX = R
%\IEE\HE

TEERERS
BRENARHESETE
SEFNENEFRET

loans to cover expected cash demands. The Group'’s policy
is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group's
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the

Ko REEBFTHRATHERERD
B BREEBTHERNZBER - #
MERERTEEREFHERENETZSR
BEARREHENES  UENEEH

TRETAEEZSRABRRENK
ZHBTARNIMA - IREAHRITH
Rens (BRERAONEHEZNE
5% RMBF A E - QRN ERER
RZHERFAR) ARAKEREAIEREEREZ
R AHEFE

earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

2016 2015
—E-RF —E-RF

Contractual Contractual

undiscounted undiscounted

cash outflow cash outflow

ERRITER EHIARITER

b i o A
Within 1 Carrying Within 1 Carrying
year or on amount at year or on amount at
demand 31 December demand 31 December
Rt=A »+=A
—FR Er=[E2 —FR =+—B2
HIRER BREE FIREK REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TERT FET FHET
Trade and other payables & 5 & E e (S BR1E 17,076 17,076 5,294 5294
Bank loan RITER 120,000 120,000 — =
137,076 137,076 5,294 5,294
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26. €@iTEvSRMEREER A ¥

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS B (&)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b)y REBE SR (&)
The table that follows summarises the maturity analysis of TRBEERBHIE 2% EEKT
loans with a repayment on demand clause based on 2 B SR ERETIEXHERS
agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan HEADHT - ZEREBRREAAS N R
agreements. The amounts include interest payments ERONBN - Fat RAK B MR
computed using contractual rates. Taking into account of NiE - ARBEERABBE AT KA
the Group's financial position, the directors of the Company e T HERBEERNEER - ANQ
do not consider it probable that the lenders will exercise its FEEHEEBEREREBEER T
discretion to demand immediate repayment. The directors HMWETERHBES -

of the Company believe that such loans will be repaid in
accordance with the scheduled repayment date set out in
the loan agreements.

Maturity Analysis - Term Loans subject to a FNEOH - BEEEEBERERER
repayment on demand clause based on scheduled ZEHE
repayments
More than More than Total
1yearbut  2yearsbut undiscounted
Within less than less than cash Carrying
1year 2 years 5years outflows amount
SH-F SRME  SRARER
R-%R B RWE BYREFE BRERELE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THER TiEn TER TiEn
31 December 2016 RZE-—R~E=ZA=+-H 3259 122,024 - 125,283 120,000
31 December 2015 RZE-R§=A=+-H - - - - -
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26. €@iTEvSRMEREER A ¥
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Interest rate risk

114

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank deposits (see note 19 for
details of bank balances) and bank loan (see note 21 for
details of bank loan) as at 31 December 2016 at 2015. The
Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate loan receivable as at 31 December 2016 and
2015. The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy. The directors of the Company monitor the
interest rate exposure and will consider other necessary
actions when significant interest rate exposure is
anticipated.

The Group does not anticipate there is any significant
interest rate risk on the bank balances because the interest
rates of bank deposits are not expected to change
significantly.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rate on bank borrowings. The
analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting periods were
outstanding for the whole year.

100 basis point increase/decrease are used for bank loan
and represent management’s assessment of reasonably
possible changes in interest rates. If interest rates had 100
basis points increase/decrease and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s loss after tax for the year ended
31 December 2016 would increase/decrease by
HK$1,200,000 (2015: HK$NIl). The directors do not expect a
significant increase of interest rate.

China Graphene Group Limited  FEGEAREEERAT
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(o) RI=EkR
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B RMTE21) AR - AEEE AR
ERIFIREREER - NQRIEFELEF
K@k - 3 A5 B B IR E KRR
B2 5 2 e Lt S S B

445 [ T H 98 176 5 3 A (] B A
B - A ATERTT AR T
REAR -

AT BURRE DT TR RIRTTE A F
REBMETE - D HRERHwE R
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26. €@iTEvSRMEREER A ¥

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(d) Currency risk
Currency risk arises on financial instruments that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency in which they are measured.

The Group's exposure to currency risk is insignificant.

(e) Price risk
The Group is exposed to price risk because the available-
for-sale financial assets and trading securities are stated at
fair value. The directors of the Company monitor the price
risk and will consider other necessary actions when
significant price risk is anticipated.

If the prices of the available-for-sale financial assets and
trading securities had been 5% (2015: 5%) high/lower,
assuming all other variables were held constant, the other
comprehensive income and profit or loss would increase/
decrease by nil (2015: HK$325,000) and approximately
HK$29,000 (2015: HK$27,000), respectively.

{8 (&)

(d) & #& 2 b
R A AFERE 1 B E WS
eI A-

AEEBH EERKRALTERK -

(e) B AR
HRAHHESREER EHEFUAR
FEIR  AEREL@SERER - K
AREFERERAR  MEEHERS
Rk HERE - 5 E BEREUEL L RITE

WA EeREER ETEFER
5,/ ER5% (Z T —R4E : 5%) B (fR:&
FIEEMASEREERTE)  AMeEE
WARBEBDBIEM BT (ZF
— A 4 : 325,000/ 7T ) K& £929,000 7% T
(ZZE—R%F : 27,00087T) °
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26. €@iTEvSRMEREER A ¥

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS B (8E)

(CONTINUED)

(f) Fair value measurement ) AFEFE

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) BAFENEZLHEERERE

value
Fair value hierarchy NP EEFER
The following table presents the fair value of the TREFNNRERARZEE R
Group's financial instruments measured at the end of ENAEEESRIARNTE  LKE
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised I FERE LB I3 AN FEEAHE
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in AT AFESERFIESBAE=E
HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which E4 o N BEFERZEHEE
a fair value measurement is classified is determined FriE R ASEM A BRIt REE Y
with reference to the observability and significance of MoBEERETERR - WHHMT :

the inputs used in the valuation technigue as follows:

e Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only o  FEI1HMEE:EFEAFIZBEA
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active Hig - IRt ERHHEREE
markets for identical assets or liabilities at the KABEITEME Y AEHE
measurement date HwEFEZAFE

e Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level o E2HE: FRE2HRBARK
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet B RARBREE1RZ2TER
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable BMAZE MAEAEENT
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which B ASBEAEZ AT
market data are not available B PRAERE AZIEATA

ERZHMEEE 2 BARE

e Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using o FEI3FHE: FREETASR
significant unobservable inputs R ABBAE A TE
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26. €@iTEvSRMEREER A ¥
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS B (&)
(CONTINUED)

(f) Fair value measurement (continued)
(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

f) 2FEFE &)
(i) ZRAFEIEZLHEERERE (&)
ANFEZR(E)
Fair value measurements as at Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2016 categorised into 31 December 2015 categorised into
R=E-~Et-A=1-H RZE-R%+-A=1+-H
ATEGESER AEHENEAR

Level1 Level2 Level3 Total  Llevel1  Level2  Lewel3 Total
-0 HEoR  E=R 8 FH  EH  E=R Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TEx ThHzx TEx Téxn TExr ThEr  TET T

Recurring fair value KEMATEHE

measurements
Assets &
Available-for-sale MERESREE

financial assets - - - - 6,500 - = 6,500
Trading securities RHEH 581 - - 531 548 - - 548

581 - - 581 7,048 - N 7,048

The fair value of financial assets traded in active WERTHEEE SR EENTFER

markets is based on quoted market prices at the end of
the reporting period. The Group’s finance department
performs valuation for financial instruments and reports
directly to the directors of the Company.

There were no transfers of financial instruments
between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the years ended 31
December 2016 and 2015. The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer.

(ii) Fair values of financial instruments carried at

other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair values as at 31
December 2016 and 2015.

RBEPRERETIHE - NEER
BRHA SR TAMRER - Y HERA
RAREERELR

REEZZE-—RNFR_ZT—HF+=
A=+—BLt&E &I A%
B~ B2RIA R B34 2 R o
B 2 BUR BRERN S| B £ 18
SR BEEEE 2 HHRAFESER
fi < B o

(i) ZHRFELUIMEEIIRAYEMT AR

FE
ANEENS R T EREmETIRK A
S SERASIER - AEREN T —X
ERZFE-RAFTA=T—HHNAR
FEEEBALA -

~

N,
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26. €@iTEvSRMEREER A ¥
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(g) Ccapital management

118

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of
risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher
levels of borrowings and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its
capital structure on the basis of a net debt-to-capital ratio.
For this purpose, the Group defines net debt as total debt
(which includes interest-bearing borrowings and other
financial liabilities) less cash and cash equivalents and
restricted bank deposits. Capital comprises all components
of equity.

During 2016, the Group's strategy, which was unchanged
from 2015, was to maintain the net debt-to capital ratio at
below 60%. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to
shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to
reduce debt.
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26. €I A4 EKREER AR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(g) Capital management (Continued)

The net debt-to-capital ratio at 31 December 2016 and 2015

was as follows:

{8 (&)

(8) EXEHE (H)

R-E—REFER-_ZT—RHF+_-A
Z+—HZEBEFEEEARLLERNT

2016 2015
—RE —T—HF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B sE FET FET
Total debt ER A

Financial liabilities included in FTAE G REMER
trade and other payables RIEZERARE 20 17,076 5,294
Bank Loan RITER 21 120,000 =
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRERIREEEY 19 (75,587) (11,018)
Restricted bank deposits SR HIERTTIF 3K 19 (8,120) S
Net debt/(cash) &%, (R&)F5HE 53,369 (5,724)
Capital B 231,553 288,286

Net debt-to-capital ratio

ERFREEREALL R

23% N/A @ A

At 31 December 2016 and 2015, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries were subject to any externally

imposed capital requirements.

RZE—REERZFE—RAF+=A
=+—H XARLEFAHBRAH
BT EAINEBHE NN & AR IE ©
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27. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 27. REHEAE
(@) The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of (@) REB AYEREBELLHOZE 2 ME
properties held under operating leases. The leases typically ZEBA ZEHEZVRTHBESR
run for an initial period of one to three years, with an option —E=F AEBENENMEGERE
to renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated. None B  Z2EHERBERSIAES -

of the leases includes contingent rentals.

At 31 December 2016, the total future minimum lease R-_ZE—XNF+_A=+—8  E@Y
payments under non-cancellable operating leases in AT RUERETELE T 2 KK RER
respect of properties are payable as follows: ®EBESBEOT
As lessee fERAMEA
2016 2015
—E—REF ZE—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Within 1 year —F AR 4,155 3,778
After 1 year but within 5 years —FUBRBERFUARN 3,881 7,773
8,036 11,551
(b) At 31 December 2016, the Group contracted with tenants b)) RZE—RFE+ZA=+—80 ' x&H
for the following total future minimum lease receivables: BHEPF BTN B R ERREHESE
BT
As lessor fERHBEA
2016 2015
—E-RF —E—AF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FH&TT
Within 1 year —FLA 6,531 1,978
After 1 year but within 5 years —FUBEBEERATIAN 3,055 -
9,586 1,978
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28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 28. EEBEALIRS
TRANSACTIONS
(a) Key management personnel remuneration (A TEETEAEME
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, AREBTEEREASIHE (RIERHFES
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as FEE Y NAATESHENLN9
disclosed in note 8 and certain of the highest paid RECETERSTMALTES) 0T :

employees as disclosed in note 9, is as follows:

2016 2015
—E—RE —T—FRF
HK$°'000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Short-term employee benefits EHEB R 26,122 18,970
Post-employment benefits BBk A 91 98
26,213 19,068
(b) Other related party transactions (b) EEAEALR S
2016 2015
—E—XREF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Management fee income from a former fellow 7 B 1T BRI S B —
subsidiary for share of administrative AR Z M B A U ER
expenses (Note) EEEUA (FEE) = 204
Note: The management fee income is determined based on negotiation Mt - BEEBRATIRTOE H & EREXAE
between both parties having regard to the cost of services on a FEERET -
quarterly basis.
In the opinion of the directors, the above transactions were FERE PRSI —RERBRE
conducted in the ordinary course of business and on terms R RIRET A E A ERTEZIGRET

mutually agreed by both parties.
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28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 28. EEHEALRS (&)
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(c) The Group had the following material balances (C) mEEHEBEATEE TIE KRG
with related parties: = 3
2016 2015
—T—X&F C—ThF
HK$'000 HK$'000
Tt Fibi
Name of related party BMEALZRE
Amount due to a director — JEfTEFFIA -
Li Feng Mao FEX 9,150 -
Note: The amount represented the accrued director’s remuneration paid to Mzt : ZERBRATFEREEINNRAESH
Mr Li Feng Mao as disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements. B - SEER SRR MITE 2042 BR - AR IB R E
The amount is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. iR B RBREREE -

29. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 29. EREFHEF R A ER
JUDGEMENTS

Key sources of estimation uncertainty A TRERZEZETERR

Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows: HETTEERR 2 FE2RRINT -

(a) Depreciation (a) IF&
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a ME - BERRERERETHERE
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives, after LA FHAEGREENE - AEH
taking into account the estimated residual value. The Group BERFMEZATAFHAREFSE (W
reviews annually the useful life of an asset and its residual B) o MBAGEFTHIRERES - KK
value, if any. The depreciation expense for future periods is M ERZATHE -
adjusted if there are significant changes from previous
estimates.
The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as M- BEERER_ZE—XF+=A
at 31 December 2016 was HK$6,630,000 (2015: =+ —HZRHEERG6630,000% (=
HK$4,335,000). T—FRF :4,335000%7T) °
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29. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(b) valuation of inventories

Management exercises its judgment in making allowance
for stocks of completed properties with reference to the
existing market environment and estimated net realisable
value of the properties, i.e. the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. The amount of write-down of
completed properties is made if the estimated net
realisable value of the property is lower than its carrying
amount. If the actual net realisable values of the completed
properties are less than expected as a result of change in
market condition, material write-down may result.

The carrying amount of completed properties held for sale
as at 31 December 2016 was HK$248,319,000 (2015:
HK$244,363,000).

(c) Allowance for impairment of doubtful debts

Allowance for impairment of doubtful debts are assessed
and provided based on the directors’ regular review of
ageing analysis and evaluation of collectibility. A
considerable level of judgement is exercised by the
management when assessing the credit worthiness and
past collection history of each individual debtor. Any
increase or decrease in the allowance for impairment of
doubtful debts would affect profit or loss in future years.

The carrying amount of loan receivable and trade and other
receivables as at 31 December 2016 were HK$2,344,000
(2015: HK$22,081,000) and HK$22,661,000 (2015:
HK$1,765,000), respectively.

29. EXEFHEE R A E (&)

A TRERZ ZEEZRR (F)
(b) ZE141E

BEEBHE TRMEFREZBEELH
EORIBIRE M SRR ZEFME G
AAEREGERMESREEBRZZ
et HEBRBET RN UTKREEZ
FXAR) o BWE 2 BRI EREERERK
H{E DERYMEFERIBELMR -
HRMERRZNE  EXUPEZE
K)‘-’%T """"" FRER ORTES - RURERBIER
RE{E B RHURL -

BERETKWER-_T— X E+ -4
=+— B ZEEEA248,319,00008 (=
T — R 1 244,363,000/ 7T) °

(c) RERBIERE

RERERBIREBESHRESITZ
EHmE R EE Z ST E R
Rt EEERNFRELEAAETAZ
EEEEMBERRCERAFHEE
HIE - RERE BB TARRSEE
ARRFE 2B

EWEFRERE S REMERRENR -Z

—RNE+-A=+—BzEEEDAA
2,344,000/ 7t (—Z — R 4F : 22,081,000
BIT) N 22,661,008 T (—ZE—REF:
1,765,000 7T) °
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29. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d) Current taxation and deferred taxation
Determining income tax provisions involves judgement on
the future tax treatment of certain transactions. The
management evaluates tax implications of transactions and
tax provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of
such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into
account all changes in tax legislation. Deferred tax assets
are recognised for tax losses not yet used and temporary
deductible differences. As those deferred tax assets can
only be recognised to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which the
unused tax credits can be utilized, the management’s
judgement is required to assess the probability of future
taxable profits. Management’'s assessment is constantly
reviewed and deferred tax assets are recognised if it
becomes probable that future taxable profits will allow the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2016, no
provisions for current tax and deferred tax were made
(2015: HKS$Nil).

30. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT

PLAN

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“"MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries registered in Japan
are members of the pension scheme operated by the Japan
local government. The subsidiaries in Japan are required to
contribute certain pre-fixed amounts of contribution, according
to the level of income for each employee to the pension
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
in respect of the pension scheme is the required contributions
under the pension scheme.
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(d) BRI %78 R AR AL H 7R
BEMSREEY R RLERZHRRHR
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MR E U RARNRERE - K
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REBE-E—~F+-A=+—B1L
R - RIS RIE REERHIE (=
T—HE L) o

30. REMHFBRIAGE

REBRBE RGBT EEOIE R
FERAKGHEEBENRA EBENITR
HMERERE B ([RESFE]) - BEEE
B RMBYREAEREZ REHFORIKE
g - REBRESE - BEREERBAR
BEBBBAZS%RZTEHER - BEH
BRAA LR A30,000/8 7T © Zat &2 5K
THBNEs SR8

AEER BAEMEHEARNEESSH
A7 BT & ER RS BRI E -
BARBHERRARE R REEHNBAKFER
BRARSFEERERSBHT  UXNERA
@A - REREEHRR S B —BET(F
HRREETEIPTH 2 HK -
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31. CONTINGENT LIABILITY

31. REE

32.

In previous years, a subsidiary of the Group sold a property to
a buyer. The buyer alleged that the subsidiary made certain
representations in selling of the property. The buyer filed a
claim with the High Court in Hong Kong claiming the repayment
of consideration of approximately HK$9.8 million paid in
purchasing the property and rescission of the contract together
with related costs, interests and damages. The subsidiary filed
a defense against the claim. The directors of the Company are
of the view that the buyer’s claim is based on unreasonable
and invalid grounds and therefore unfounded. In view of the
inherent uncertainties of the legal proceedings, the outcome of
which cannot be estimated reliably at this stage, the directors
of the Company considered that no specific provision should
be made in the financial statements.

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 17 September 2015, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party (the
“Purchaser”) pursuant to which the Group agreed to sell and
the Purchaser agreed to purchase 100% equity interests in Suli
Chong International (H.K.) Limited at a cash consideration of
HK$500,000. The disposal was completed on 29 October 2015.

32.

BEFE  AEE-—HHNBLARLE—BY
XTED - EHERNEBARNLEMEE
EHETRBHA - BEHTARBESSTER B
SRIEE B E XYW E AT 499,800,00078 7T 2
RE - REUHES AL IHEBEKRA - FMEK
BR ZMBARRRERESELUHR - K
NAEERRETHRRIDERTEE RER
BEHERLESEKRE - ERARFAZIA
ETEEN - FRGERNANRE REER] A
it ARREER R TERMEHRERFIEL
B -

HEHELQR

RNZE—AFALA+ER AEESBIE
ZHBEBADIYESE RS Bt &%
BREHE  MBEAREHERERR(F
) B BR 2 5] 100% Az # - X {8 /& 500,000 %
T HEERER-_E—AF+AZTIHERE
ﬁj‘z °

HK$'000
F#&T
Net assets disposed of HEMBAREEFEYE
Property, plant and equipment B M 5 368
Other receivables H UG AR IR 1
Net assets disposed of HENBARTNEEFE 369
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HENE A RNEREER
Consideration received R IE 500
Net assets disposed of HENBRAFTNEEFE (369)
Transaction costs RGN (5)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEHB AR ARG 126
Net cash inflow arising on disposal HEMBARZEERAFE
of a subsidiary
Consideration received BURE 500
Transaction costs RBHKA (5
495
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33. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 33. RRIEMEMBARRE
FINANCIAL POSITION
2016 2015
—E—RF —ET—TF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FHEIT
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZIKE 7,813 7,813
Available-for-sale financial assets AIHHEERmEE = 6,500
Restricted bank deposits SRRFIERTTIER 8,120 -
15,933 14,313
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 hHEMmEWERTE 228,061 233,014
Cash and cash equivalents HehIReEED 41,482 -
269,543 233,014
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B NEMEMIRE 1,127 471
Bank loan IRITEK 21 120,000 =
121,127 471
Net current assets RBEEFE 148,416 232,543
NET ASSETS BEEFE 164,349 246,856
Capital and reserves B R
Share capital A% A 24 140,955 140,955
Reserves s 23,394 105,901
TOTAL EQUITY R 164,349 246,856
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33.

COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 33. AR EEM KR REK (E)
FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
(a) A summary of the Company’s reserves is are (@) A BlfEBEZRHENT
follows:
Capital Share
Share redemption option Contributed Fair value Accumulated
premium reserve reserve surplus reserve losses Total
BAKE BRE
R EE fte ®E  BABR% DNTERE RHER et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tiar FHL TiEx Thr Fx Tir FiEr
At 1 January 2015 RZZE-1%—-F—H 5241 121 9,285 234,897 2230 (125,381) 126,393
Comprehensive income: 2EMA :
Loss for the year FERER = = = - - (35,636) (35,636)
Other comprehensive income: Hip2EMA
Fair value change on available-for-sale ~ AItHEMEBEEL
financial assets ATEEE = - - - 2,900 - 2,900
Total comprehensive loss FRREEELE
for the year - - - - 2900 (35,636) (32,736)
Shares issued under share option scheme B Rk#Est2| T 2 2 % 1TR 7 21,529 - 9,289) - - = 12,204
At 31 December 2015 RZZE-1%
+-A=+-H 26,770 121 = 234,897 5130 (161,017) 105,901
At 1 January 2016 W-E—~¥-F—H 26,770 121 - 234,897 5130  (161,017) 105,901
Comprehensive income: 2EMA
Loss for the year ENEE = = = = - (11311)  (77.377)
Other comprehensive income: Eth2ERA :
Fair value changes on available-for-sale  AItHERSREE Y
financial assets INTEL L) = = = = (200) = (200)
Reclassification for cumulative HEMRNESRAE
fair value gain attributable to EHEFHATE
disposal of available-for-sale WHEzn B
financial assets - - - - (4,930) = (4,930)
Total comprehensive loss for the year  §R2ABBAE - = = = (51300  (77,377)  (82,507)
At 31 December 2016 RZE-"E+ZA=1—H 26,770 121 - 234,897 - (238,394) 23,394
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33. COMPANY - LEVEL STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium and capital redemption reserve

The application of the share premium account and
capital redemption reserve is governed by the Bermuda
Companies Act.

(ii) Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the portion of the
grant date fair value of unexercised share options
granted to directors, eligible employees and other
eligible participants of the Group that has been
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for share-based payments in note 2(n)(i).

(iii) Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the nominal value of the shares
issued by the Company and the aggregate of the share
capital and the share premium accounts of the
subsidiaries acquired. Under the Bermuda Companies
Act, the Company may make distributions to its
members out of contributed surplus in certain
circumstances.

(iv)Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 2(r).

(v) Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net
change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial
assets held at the end of the reporting period and is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies
set out in notes 2(e) and 2(h)(i).

(c) Dividend

128

No interim dividend was paid and the directors of the
Company do not recommend the payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: HK$Nil).
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AR ARAIRE THRE T Al mEK
BRBEIDEBARSR -

(iv) S} E 1
SNE & 8 B 38 S B SN B R R 1S
BRENIMEEZE - [FERTIREN
FE20) B R AT BRRIEIE ©

(v) 2-FEFE
NHERBEERRERRFE A
HEESRHEEATEZRTE2HF
B M EE20e) R2h)() Az & &t
BRERIE o

(WN:3=%
HE-_Z—RFEt+-A=+—8BI1t%&
- BERNEAPERE - MARF
EETEFRMNRERE(ZT—RF
ZHIT) ©



Notes to the Financial Statements
g% Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-—ZT— R FE+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (ASTTaHE)

34. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 4. RBE=ZF—F+=ZA=+—

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

Up to the date of issuance of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued several amendments and standards which
are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2016 and
which have not been adopted in these financial statements.
These include the following which may be relevant to the
Group.

|
\)

HItFECSBEMEERER2E
Al MERRREBZURSE

BENSMHERRZTIEBRH - FE ST
NEEMBERANBE_FT—R"FET_-A
=+ BUEFEEMZETREN(ERAE
AT BT AR N M E B I mER P IRA) o X
GREAKERE ERT M ERT -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUT B2 &%
ZETHBEN

Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows:
Disclosure initiative

BB ENE 7R 2B HeREX -
wEEEE

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Recognition of
deferred tax assets for unrealised losses

ERGTENE 125 85T - AriEH -
BRREL B R IEEE

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments
BETERELEREON T A

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers
EBUHEREEBFE 155 KERP ZA MW

Amendments to HKFRS 2, Share-based payment: Classification and
measurement of share-based payment transactions
ERPBRELERE 2 2MER] - URGBERZ I -
KR BEBIHKE G2 7B RE

HKFRS 16, Leases
BAMGHRERNF 165 HE

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture

HAEBUBMEERNFE 10K REBGFTERIE 2858 2185]
BEERERENTREGEAAEECHANEELRESTE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments and standards is expected to be in
the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
Group's financial position or performance.

1 January 2017

—F—tF—A—H

1 January 2017

—E—+F—HF—H

1 January 2018

—E-NF—H—H
1 January 2018
—E-\F—HF—H

1 January 2018

—ZE-N\F—-H—H

1 January 2019
—E-NF—H—H

To be determined

/= el
T AE

REBRIEFER IR R ZFERT MR
BB AKEARESRZZE 2R
Ik AREERRER LB MR KA
SHAKE BN KBEELEAF

N

e

2
&
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35. NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

36.

On 13 January 2017, GP and WI Graphene entered into a
license agreement pursuant to which GP granted the
right for using certain patents to WI Graphene for
manufacturing of graphene and related products, details
of which are set out in note 13 to the financial
Statements.

On 13 January 2017, WI Graphene entered into an
agreement to purchase a production line for Japanese
Yen 700 million (equivalent to HK$ 47,500,000) from GP.

Up to the date of approval of these financial statements,
the valuation of the right for using the patents are in
progress. Upon completion of the valuation, WI Graphene
would allot new shares and GP would own 20% equity
interest of WI Graphene, details of which are set out in
note 13 to the financial statements.

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING

PARTY

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the directors consider that
the immediate parent of the Company to be HK Guoxin
Investment Group Limited("HK Guoxin”), which was
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and this entity
does not produce financial statements available for public use.
The ultimate controlling party is considered to be Mr. Li Feng
Mao, the sole beneficial owner of HK Guoxin and the director
of the Company.
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—RETZA=T-BLEE

35.

36.

BERRZIFARER

i) RZZE—+F—A+=H GP&w
Graphene 5] M 15 &t #hik « IRULGP IR T
WI Graphene # F| 7] 3t 2035 245 & A8
BMEMERAETERN  FEHRYB
H|MEMIFES ©

i RZE—+tF—AF+=8 "W
Graphene &1 37 17 % LA 7] GP % B8 A4 B
4 » {E{& /700,000,000 B Bl (A E R

47,500,000/ 7T) ©

(i) BHEHEPHHREMLEDDR =27
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Group Properties
SEY =%

Particulars of the Group’s major properties held for sale as at 31 AEBR -_Z—XF+-_A=+—HBEFHELE2

December 2016 are as follows: FEMEFBOT :
Percentage
Gross floor area interest attributable
REEEE to the Group
Location Existing Use sq. m. RAEEEEER
ih 2 REAR TR £
30 units of THE ICON, 38 Conduit Road, Residential 1,953 100%

Mid-levels, Hong Kong
BAF I TFEEI8HR F=

THE ICON #Y 30 f| & {iz
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summary Financial Information
HBERBE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non- ARNEESFAEMBEE 2 2EREE  BER
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is — FE3EAR AR B fEs i Z 40T ©
set out below.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 7 3R 3k

RESULTS ES

Year ended 31 December
BE+T-A=1—HLEE

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
—ExF —_T-HF ZT-WF ZT—=F ZT—=F
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
BT FET FiHT FET FET

Revenue W 5,442 12,210 5,351 4,830 4,629
Loss before taxation BRELRIEE (43,947) (26,469) (24,043) (37,144) (28,611)
Income tax expense FTeHAX = = 5 = =
Loss for the year REEEE (43,947) (26,469) (24,043) (37,144) (28,611)
Attributable to: 1

Equity shareholders of the Company AR FIEzEFE A (43,947) (26,469) (24,043) (37,144) (28,611)
Non-controlling interests FEPE Rt e - - - - -

(43,947) (26,469) (24,043) (37,144) (28,611)

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING BE BERFERES
INTERESTS

As at 31 December
R+=-B=+—-~H

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
—E—RE —T-HF —T-NF —T—=F —ET—-F
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FTExT FHET FHET FET FET

Total assets BEE 368,751 293,754 299,861 332,001 360,137
Total liabilities wafd (137,198) (5,468) (9,415) (19,147 (20,724)

231,553 288,286 290,446 312,854 339,413

Equity attributable to equity RRRERRBA
shareholders of the Company e RS 231,553 288,286 290,446 312,854 339,413
Non-controlling interests FEPE M = - _ _ .

231,553 288,286 290,446 312,854 339,413
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